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Investor information

Proha Group in brief
Proha Plc is a global software company focusing
on maximizing its customers’ management perfor-
mance. Proha’s key business areas are Project Ma-
nagement (Artemis), Financial Management
(Accountor), and ASP services based on Internet
Technologies (Intellisoft). The year 2001 was the
first 12-month financial period that included all
acquisitions made during the strong growth pe-
riod of 2000. Based on the net sales of EUR 82.8
million, Proha is now one of the largest software
companies in Finland. The Proha Group employs
638 people, 231 of who work in Finland, and 407
outside of Finland.

In the Project Management business area, Arte-
mis is a market leader, whose subsidiary network
of distributors and partners covers all major mar-
kets worldwide. The majority of its customer base
consists of large multinational companies to whom
Artemis is often the only alternative when it co-
mes to delivering large-scale solutions.

In the Financial Management business area,
Accountor offers financial management solutions
irrespective of time and place. Accountor’s Fi-
nance Department services are designed to sup-
port large companies in their modern financial
management. For small and medium-sized compa-
nies, Proha’s ProCountor.Com offers an easy way
to take care of bookkeeping and invoicing.

In the Internet Technologies business area, In-
tellisoft offers an extensive range of Proha’s pro-
ject and financial management applications and li-
censed software as an ASP service. Interest in ASP
services will increase as companies start looking
for more cost-effective alternatives for their
software projects.

The shares of Proha Plc, founded in 1983, are
traded on the NM-list of the Helsinki Stock
Exchange.

Proha’s Annual Report is available in Finnish and
English on the Internet at www.proha.com.
Proha reports on its financial development quar-
terly. During 2002, the company will publish in-
terim reports as follows:
• Interim report for Q1 will be published on

May 23, 2002.

• Interim report for Q2 will be published on
August 22, 2002.

• Interim report for Q3 will be published on
November 21, 2002.

Interim reports will not be printed, but will
be available in Finnish and English on the Inter-
net at www.proha.com or on request by phone
at +358 (0)20 4362 000.



2001 in Brief
Proha is a global software company focusing on
maximizing its customer’s management perfor-
mance by providing business management
solutions. Following a period of strong growth,
Proha focused on launching new products and
enhancing business operations in 2001. In spite of
rapid changes in the international market situation,
Proha was able to adapt its operations to the chan-
ged situation. The Group’s net sales rose by 129
per cent compared to the financial statements in
2000, remaining at the same level with the pro
forma figures of 2000.

Result for the financial year 2001 (EUR -10.1
million) was affected by a difficult market situation,
the Opus360 transaction and the expense entry of
a deferred tas asset (EUR 2.999 million). Earnings
before financial expenses, taxes and depreciation
excluding the effect of Opus360 transaction were
EUR 0.5 million and EUR 0.5 million better than
expected at the end of 2001.

In the Project Management business area, the
most significant event of 2001 was the purchase of
the US-based Opus360 Corporation, and the com-
bination of Opus and Proha’s Artemis business into

publicly held Artemis International Solutions Cor-
poration, which trades on the OTCBB in USA
under the stock symbol “AISC”. A major share of
Proha’s net sales originates from the Project Mana-
gement business area. One of the most important
product releases in 2001 was PortfolioDirector, a
strategic business investment portfolio management
solution.The first PortfolioDirector deal was made
in December.

In 2001, net sales of the Financial Management
business area grew rapidly. Proha’s financial mana-
gement solutions such as electronic invoicing have
been well received by the market. In the Financial
Management business area, Proha offers financial
management service irrespective of time and place.

In the Internet Technologies business area, the
initial development phase of the ASP service was
completed during the first half of 2001. During the
second half of the year, the first ASP service clients
were secured. Proha is now able to offer its own
applications as well as licensed software as an ASP
service. In addition, the ASP service has attracted
wide market interest.
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Key Ratios of the Proha Group
Jan.1,2001 Jan.1, 2000

-Dec.31, 2001 -Dec.31, 2000
Net sales (EUR million) 82.8 36.1

change % +129 +597
EBITDA*) (EUR million) -4.4 3.8

% of net sales -5.3 10.6
Operating profit/loss (EUR million) -6.1 1.9

% of net sales -7.4 5.4
Profit/loss before extraordinary items (EUR million) -7.2 1.5

% of net sales -8.6 4.3
Result for the financial year (EUR million) -10.1 0.9

% of net sales -12.2 2.6
Earnings/share, EUR -0.20 0.03
Equity/share, EUR 0.24 0.41
Dividend/share, EUR 0.00 0.00
Average personnel 690 249

*) Earnings before financial expenses, taxes and depreciation.
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Proha is a global software company focusing on
maximizing its customers' managament perfor-
mance. Our solutions help our customers to reali-
ze their strategies, target their resources correctly,
and manage their operative business towards maxi-
mum profitability.

We want to establish ourselves as one of the
main players in our target areas and as the strate-
gic partner of our customer organizations’ top
management. Our repeatable solutions and servi-
ces are first-class solutions, and our organization
operating in all major IT markets helps our custo-
mers to gain full benefit of them. In growing num-
ber of companies, our solutions are an indispen-
sable strategic management tool.

We focus on customers who want to benefit
from modern IT solutions in the execution of their
strategies and who want to operate more efficiently
than their competitors in the ever-changing busi-
ness environment.

The technological revolution of the past few
years will fundamentally change the way organiza-
tions operate. It increases the demand for modern
management solutions offered by Proha. Growing
demand and our scalable business operation model
based on repeatable solutions create a solid foun-
dation for the growth and profitability of our busi-
ness.

We operate in three business areas developing
and applying modern Internet-based information
technology. Proha’s competence in the field of
technology has taken the traditional project and
financial management models to a completely new
level. Our solutions help customers to better mana-
ge and develop their business operations in the fast-
changing business environment.

Our project and resource collaboration softwa-
re provides our customers with the tools for futu-
re project planning and monitoring. Our financial
management solutions enable the management of
recent history and give a clear picture of the pre-
sent situation and the near future.We offer comp-
rehensive services and solutions as ready-to-use sys-
tems from our service center, which gives our
customers new alternative ways to use and acqui-
re IT systems.

PROJECT AND RESOURCE 
COLLABORATION
Project and resource collaboration business focu-
ses on providing solutions for leading international
companies. Artemis International operates on all
continents and supports customers where needed
– all around the world. Our software products
constitute our core business, which is supplemen-
ted by training, implementation, and consulting ser-
vices.

The concept of project and resource collabora-
tion expands from the management of investment
and product development projects to the manage-
ment of the entire investment and venture portfo-
lio. In the future, more and more companies will
use project and resource collaboration solutions to
execute their strategies. The solutions offered by
Proha help customers to do the right things right.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
Finland has a unique position in the area of modern
financial management due to a highly advanced inf-
rastructure. In Finland, we can develop electronic
financial management solutions that can later be
expanded to all of Europe. Financial management
solutions developed during 2001 are now ready for
use, and they improve our customers’ financial
management processes.The development work has
been based on Proha’s existing software, that has
been innovatively combined into system and servi-
ce solutions covering entire processes.

INTERNET TECHNOLOGIES
New operating cultures, which go beyond organiza-
tional boundaries, require new solutions. In order
to accelerate and utilize this development trend,
Proha is also offering its products from its service
center. Our customers are thus able to avoid addi-
tional investments and delays caused by the imple-
mentation – the solutions can be leased as a ready-
to-use system. Our service center integrates our
products with our partners’ offerings to provide ove-
rall solutions that cover entire business processes.

Strategy
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Proha focuses on the development and delivery of repeatable business solutions.
Repeatable product and service processes allow our customers to better pre-
dict and secure their business operations. Each solution consists of products
and associated services. For our customers, repeatability translates into high-
quality solutions at reasonable costs.

Organizations are different. Our process guarantees individual deliveries
and consideration of customer-specific needs also in repeatable solutions.

For Proha, concentrating on repeatable solutions, as compared to custo-
mized solutions, is a considerably more profitable business concept, which
enables us to grow and develop our business.

GLOBAL PRODUCTS, LOCAL SERVICE
Proha’s solutions are designed to meet the needs of the global market. We
combine world-class products with local service that leverages the possibili-
ties provided by our international delivery network. Our organization is rep-
resented in all major markets, so our customers can always be sure they will
get good, local service.

Proha Focuses on 
Repeatable Solutions



Chief Executive Officer’s Review
By the early 2001, Proha had grown to a globally operating software company whose market area covers
all the major IT markets in the world. Proha has a very strong market position. In the Company’s most
important market arena — high-end project and resource collaboration software solutions — Proha is a
global market leader.

The global software markets changed significantly in 2001. Software sales declined, which substan-
tially affected the operations of virtually all the companies in the field. During the year, we adjusted our
operations to meet the demands of the changed market situation. We refrained from several planned
growth activities and combined the US-based Opus360 (purchased in 2001) with Proha’s subgroup Arte-
mis. Despite the difficult market situation, we maintained our steady position and succeeded better than
our main competitors. Proha’s net sales grew by 129 per cent to EUR 82.8 million, compared to net
sales for 2000 (EUR 36.1 million) and remained at the same level even with the pro forma figures for
2000 (EUR 82.2 million) in spite of temporary decline in the markets.

PROJECT MANAGEMENT
In the Project Management business area, one of the most important events was the purchase of the US-
based Opus360 Corporation and its combination with Artemis. Thanks to these moves, Proha has now
an international subgroup,Artemis International Solutions Corporation, traded on the OTC Bulletin Board
in the United States. Artemis is a world market leader in the project and resource collaboration field.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
In the Financial Management business area, Proha is clearly emerging as the pioneer of the new era of
financial management. The previously initiated investments in financial management automation were
concluded in the fall of 2001. The IAP-Flow system based on electronic purchase invoice handling was
adopted by the Company in May and by customers in September. Automated ProCountor-accounting sys-
tem was introduced to customers in the summer and the full-scale customer service was started in the
fall. Implementation of these investments boosted growth and improved profitability in the Financial
Management business area. 2002 will be a year of growth for these new services.

INTERNET TECHNOLOGIES
In the Internet Technologies business area,ASP services were consolidated into Intellisoft Ltd, and softwa-
re subcontracting into Datamar Ltd.

In early 2001, Intellisoft concentrated on building the technical environment for ASP business and
developing Proha’s internal systems. During the summer and fall, service to outside customers picked
up speed and began to grow both through Proha’s two other business areas and direct sales. 2002 will
be a year of growth also for Intellisoft.

The business of Datamar focused on software subcontracting. A number of Finnish customers were
transferred to Datamar, and its software subcontracting for Proha grew substantially. Datamar played a
significant role in several Proha’s projects during the year.
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INTO THE FUTURE WITH A POSITIVE MIND
Proha is a global software company focusing on maximizing its customers’ business performance by pro-
viding management solutions. The Company’s budget for 2002 is based on a positive result with zero
growth.The goal is, however, set higher. Based on the future outlook at the beginning of 2002, it is esti-
mated that the evolving positive development in
the market will encourage the Company’s
growth. Prospects for 2002 look positive.

We work in long-term and close cooperation
with our customers around the world and in all
our three business areas.We operate close to our
customers’ core competences and business pro-
cesses. Reliability and commitment to pursue
our customers’ best interests are strong values
for us. Last year we helped many of our custo-
mers to cope and grow. Our customers gave
meaning to our work, and their strong commit-
ment also helped us to cope. Fortunately, com-
pared to 2001, the markets seem to develope
more favorably in 2002. We will continue to
invest in long-term customer relationships, and
do our very best to earn our customers’ trust
both in software and service markets. Coopera-
tion prevails.

2001 was Proha’s first full year as a global
Group. With hard work, we managed to achie-
ve a strong and steady market position in a dif-
ficult market situation.At the same time, Proha’s
products were developed and raised to a remar-
kably competitive level. The credit for this
belongs to the Proha Group’s personnel, whom
I wish to thank for their contribution and com-
mitment on behalf of myself and the whole
management team.

Pekka Pere
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Worldwide Distribution Network
– World Leading Project 
Management Software
In the Project Management business area, Proha
provides local services to clients operating global-
ly in all major market areas. A major part of the
international project management network focuses
on sales, development and consulting of Artemis
products worldwide.

– Working in close cooperation with our cus-
tomers we can ensure that our solutions meet their
business needs, stated Steven Yager, who served
as the president and CEO of Artemis International
Solutions Corporation (AISC) in 2001.

During 2001, Artemis products received over
100,000 new users. At the moment, there are
approximately 420,000 Artemis users worldwide.
Artemis’ strategy is to move its powerful solutions
beyond utilization by corporate specialists and make
those solutions available and easily accessible to all
knowledge workers within large enterprises.

– Artemis will be able to positively impact thou-
sands of enterprise users, enabling organizations to
function more effectively.We will help the world’s
largest companies to do the right things right, notes
Steven Yager.

The analyst firm Gartner Group positioned
Artemis as number one in the industry for its abi-
lity to execute.

PM2 METHODOLOGY SUPPORTS IMPLE-
MENTATION EFFECTIVELY
Artemis’ PM2 methodology is a structured way to
implement Artemis project management solutions
into an organization. It is a highly evolved phased
approach, which combines Artemis’ extensive
experience and expertise.

– Companies operating on a global basis espe-
cially benefit from Artemis’ ability to offer a sca-
lable software solution and the structured PM2

implementation approach, says Howard Magee,
Executive Vice President of International Opera-
tions.

According to Magee, Artemis’ implementation
approach allows clients and consultants to work
together to design and implement a phased rollout
plan that addresses the cultural, process and sys-
tems elements needed for successful implementa-
tion.

ARTEMIS US – FIRM FOOTHOLD IN THE
DEFENCE INDUSTRY
The United States is the largest single market area
comprising 33.2 per cent of Artemis’ total project
management business in 2001. The US customers
include large global Fortune 500 companies ope-
rating from the United States.

In the United States, Artemis is also involved in
one of the biggest orders in the history of US
defence industry. In the Lockheed Martin Aero-
nautics' recent USD 19 billion contract, Artemis’
tools are utilized for financials, scheduling and ear-
ned-value reporting and shop-floor management.

EUROPE
In Europe, Artemis has been a leading player in the
project management market for over 25 years. In
2001, Europe’s share of the project management
business was 54.7 per cent.

Artemis has a significant market position in
Great Britain, France, Germany and Finland. Arte-
mis’ clients include major enterprises within the
financial services, telecommunications, pharma-
ceuticals, aerospace and defence, engineering and
retail.

ARTEMIS UK’S CLIENTS LARGE-SCALE
ENTERPRISES
In Great Britain,Artemis’ major clients include lea-
ding companies within the financial services, tele-
communications, pharmaceuticals, aerospace and
defence, engineering and retail. Also in Great Bri-
tain, there has been a growing market interest in
the new strategic-level solutions.

– Having celebrated our 25th year in business,
Artemis is uniquely placed to deliver the informa-
tion benefits required. Our knowledge and exper-
tise focused through the highly evolved PM2 servi-
ce delivery methodology combined with our
scalable, Web-based enterprise software tools are
unmatched, states Rob Legge, Vice President of
UK Operations.

ARTEMIS FRANCE SUCCEEDS IN THE
FINANCIAL SERVICES INDUSTRY
In France and Germany, Artemis has a very strong
presence in the financial services industry, as well
as automotive and electronics industry.

– We are especially strong in time-to-market-
driven industries, says Patrick Ternier, president
of Artemis International Sarl, France.
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Customers (Great Britain): Pharmagene, London Electricity

Customers (France):Eurocontrol,Casino,EADS Sodem,BNP,
Orange



ARTEMIS GERMANY STRONG IN 
BANKING AND TELECOM SECTORS
Artemis International GmbH has a well-established
position in the banking and telecom sectors. Mana-
ging Director David Thomson believes that time
is now favourable for conquering new markets.

– New investment portfolio management
solutions in particular have raised interest among
existing and new customers, says Thomson.

Artemis is the leading provider of project and
resource management solutions for the top 500
companies in the manufacturing, retail and financing
sectors. Customers include eight of the ten largest
companies in the target market. Artemis Internatio-
nal GmbH also operates in Austria and in the Ger-
man speaking areas of Switzerland.

COST MANAGEMENT – THE FASTEST
GROWING MARKET IN ITALY
In Italy, Artemis has reached a strong market posi-
tion. Sales continued to increase further in 2001.
One of the fastest growing markets is cost manage-
ment.

– More and more companies are discovering that
the level of control we can offer with our integra-
ted solutions can’t be matched by ERP systems, says
Carlo Boldi, President and Managing Director of
Artemis International S.p.A.

– In the corporate project and resource mana-
gement sector, in which Artemis International SpA
operates, no competitor in Italy can match its size,
organization, professionalism, experience and com-
petence.These qualities translate into a superior abi-
lity to provide the customer with a complete pro-
ject management solution, notes Boldi.

ARTEMIS FINLAND EXPANDED TO NEW
MARKETS
In Finland, Artemis Finland Oy has a firm position
in telecommunications, IT/IS, construction and
manufacturing. New investment portfolio manage-
ment solutions have helped Artemis to significantly
strengthen its position in the banking and insurance
sector.

– We have created a center of expertise that is
unique in Finland.Thanks to our new organization,
we are able to offer our customers solutions on a
strategic, tactical and operative level.Together with
our global organization we have managed to diver-
sify Artemis’ product portfolio in our target mar-

kets. Finland’s success in the information technolo-
gy of banking and telecom sectors has given us a
great opportunity to pioneer in these sectors, says
Risto Saikko, Managing Director of Artemis Fin-
land.

NORWEGIAN OPERATIONS FOCUS ON
OFFSHORE INDUSTRY
In Norway, Safran Software Solutions AS, in which
Proha acquired a 100 per cent holding in January
2002, focuses on the project management needs of
the offshore industry. Safran has a significant holding
in the Norwegian-based Dovre International con-
sulting company.

ASIA
In Asia, Artemis has adapted to markets that are dif-
ferent from those of Europe and the United States.
In 2001, Asia’s share of the total net sales was 12.1
per cent.

Artemis’ business in Asia are managed by Arte-
mis International Corporation Pte Ltd. and Artemis
International KK.

– Organizations need to plan strategies and trans-
late those strategies into results.This is nothing new.
However, many are tired of getting nowhere, due to
misalignment and lack of performance visibility and
control. We are well positioned to work with our
customers providing them with the methods and
tools required to make a positive result in accor-
dance with their strategies, says Johnny Tan, CEO
of Artemis International Corporation Pte Ltd.

For example, Japan is a major market for Arte-
mis Tools products. Artemis Tools is designed for
creating project management solutions in the mainf-
rame environment.

– In Japan,Artemis is the leading supplier of pro-
ject management systems providing its customers
not only with tools but consulting and training, sta-
tes Yoichiro Sugii, President of Artemis Interna-
tional KK.

Artemis is also operating in large, growing mar-
kets such as Hong Kong/China, Korea, India and
Indonesia.
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Customers (Italy): Fiat, Agip,Telecom Italia

Customers (Asia): Ministry of Health, Singapore, National
Neuroscience Institute, Singapore, National University
Hospital, Singapore, National Cancer Centre, Singapore,
National Dental Centre, Singapore, Ministry of Commu-
nity,TNT (Singapore), Ministry of Defence, Singapore

Customers (Germany): Deutsche Telekom, Siemens, Dresd-
ner Bank, BASF, and Deutsche Bank

Customers (Finland): OKO Bank Group, Skanska, Nokia,
UPM Kymmene



New solutions that support the executive-level
decision-making are raising more and more inte-
rest in the project management IT solutions mar-
ket. There is great demand for methods that ana-
lyse the investment portfolio, the business
environment and its changes, and their interrela-
tions. The industry forerunner is Artemis’ Portfo-
lioDirectorTM, a business investment portfolio
management solution introduced in 2001.

PortfolioDirector meets the current market
needs. In more and more companies both internal
processes and productive business are tightly bound
to information technology. In the front line of this
development in Finland are banks and other
financial institutions, in which a large part of the
customer interface has shifted to electrical business
environment.

Investment portfolio management is an essen-
tial part of today’s strategic management.An invest-
ment portfolio consists of all on-going and sugges-
ted projects. A successful investment portfolio
management is attained by aligning investments
with company’s strategy in a supportive and pro-
ductive way.

In the present fast-changing business environ-
ment, successful operation requires an effective rea-
lization of the strategy. Management must be able
to control investment initiatives on a strategic level
and allocate resources correctly on a tactical level.

FOCUSING ON TOP MANAGEMENT’S
NEEDS
At the moment, there are two different trends
affecting the project management business – both
of which have an impact on business concepts and
the course and focus of product development.

The first trend is that the focus of project mana-
gement is changing. Traditionally, project manage-
ment methods have been used by operative mana-
gement. The focus is now shifting to higher
organizational levels – to tactical and strategic
management – of which PortfolioDirector is a good
example.

The product offering of tactical management
solutions is also strengthened. As a result of local
product development, Artemis Resource Planner
was introduced in Finland in March 2002.This new
Web-based application enables the resource plan-
ning across various projects.

EXPANDING TO NEW INDUSTRIES
The second trend is that project management met-
hods are gaining ground in new industries. This
trend is similar in all of Proha’s project manage-

ment markets in Europe, the United States and
Asia. Regardless of the industry, working in a pro-
ject-based way is increasing in companies.

This is partly explained by the fast-changing
business environment and the need for networking
due to globalisation, which require faster respon-
se and more flexibility from companies. In this new
business environment, project-based working has
proven to be one the most productive methods of
getting work accomplished.

ARTEMIS INTERNATIONAL MAINTAINED
ITS LEADING POSITION IN THE 
CHANGING MARKETS
The analyst firm Gartner Group ranked Artemis
International Solutions Corporation, which consti-
tutes Proha’s project management business unit, as
one of the leading players in the Project and
Resource Collaboration market space in its July,
2001 article, “Project/Resource Management Sui-
tes: Getting it Together”.A comprehensive study of
the industry’s market shares conducted by an inde-
pendent organization does not exist.

Proha’s project management business area con-
tinued to grow during the year 2001. In July 2001,
Proha acquired majority ownership in Opus360
Corporation, a US-based public company.The ope-
rations of Opus360 and Artemis were combined
under the name Artemis International Solutions
Corporation. As a result of several acquisitions,
Artemis now has a distinguished position in global
markets and focuses on profitable organic growth
in 2002.

Project Management Solutions Rise
to a Strategic Level
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PRODUCT AND SERVICE OFFERING
EXPANDS TO PROJECT AND RESOURCE
COLLABORATION MARKETS
During the year 2001, Artemis International con-
tinued to develop its applications and services to
better meet the needs of traditional project mana-
gement software markets, as well as larger and
rapidly expanding Project and Resource Collabo-
ration markets. New products are designed for
modern, flexible project organizations, whose pro-
jects compete with each other for resources and
which often use temporary external resources.

During 2001,Artemis released several new pro-
ducts and services in addition to PortfolioDirector.

Most of these new products are Web-based. In
November 2001, Artemis introduced ViewPoint, a
Web-enabled portal application for project and
resource collaboration.At the same time, the com-
pany also announced the Artemis Views 5 release,
which contains many new or improved features
requested by Artemis Views users.

Service offerings were also updated by launching
Artemis LINKS and OnTrack on-line project mana-
gement e-learning tools.

Artemis’ strategy is to continue to enhance its
products to leverage the Internet, and to provide
the customers with the best project management
solutions to meet their business needs.
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Running a profitable
business is increasing-
ly based on utilizing
information technolo-
gy. In Finland, one of
the pioneers in this
field is the OKO Bank
Group Central Coo-
perative.

– In the IT domi-
nated business envi-
ronment, the key
words of investment
portfolio management
are strategy, flexibility
and efficiency, sums up
Mr. Markku Mäki-
nen, Information
Technology Director
of OKO Bank Group
Central Cooperative.

These success
factors of this banking company known for its pro-
fitable growth are now being cultivated further by
Artemis PortfolioDirector.

TRANSFER TO ELECTRONIC SERVICES
CREATES INVESTMENT NEEDS
Mäkinen says that in the OKO Bank Group trans-
ferring to an electronic business environment has
continually increased the need for investing in infor-
mation technology.

Paradoxically, the expeditious eBusiness sets

demands for the management to respond with
greater speed and flexibility, and, at the same time,
to keep the investments within the framework of
company strategy.

The OKO Bank Group Central Cooperative’s tool
for investment portfolio management is Artemis
PortfolioDirector, an innovative solution for strate-
gic investment portfolio management.

– We have been looking for a solution like Port-
folioDirector and tools to align investments with our
strategy as well as possible, tells Mäkinen.

AIMING AT LONG-TERM CONTROL OF
PRODUCTIVITY
Mäkinen says that the OKO Bank Group Central
Cooperative also appreciates PortfolioDirector’s fea-
tures that cover investment planning and control
needs on all levels of the organization.

– We expect executive management to have sig-
nificantly better possibilities to manage the invest-
ments on the group level, so that instead of one
investment the whole portfolio is under review,
Mäkinen adds.

PortfolioDirector is expected to enhance pro-
ductivity. One of the OKO Bank Group Central
Cooperative’s long-term aims is to control the pro-
ductivity of all investments. So far, the company has
only been able to monitor the productivity of larger
investments.

It is widely believed within the OKO Bank Group
Central Cooperative that professional management
of an investment portfolio is more significant in this
respect as well, says Mäkinen. ❐

Strategy, Flexibility, and Efficiency – Key Factors of
Investment Portfolio Management for OKO Bank
Group Central Cooperative



Net sales for Proha’s Financial Management busi-
ness unit grew in year 2001, and growth is
expected to continue in 2002.The Financial Mana-
gement business unit also continues as the innova-
tive pioneer in the field of electronic financial
management.The prospects for electronic financial
management services for 2002 are good.

Accountor Oy, focusing on electronic financial
management and financial management services,
took big steps forward in 2001. One of the biggest
achievements was the introduction of an electronic
purchase invoice handling service called IAP Flow.
The achievements aligned with the corporate stra-
tegy. Since 2000, the Financial Management busi-
ness unit has invested heavily in the development
of IT infrastructure.

The size and service requirements of Accountor’s
customers have increased continuously.

In 2001,Accountor’s new IAP (Internet Accoun-
ting Partner) customers included Fortum Service
Oy, Fremantle Entertainment Oy, Meridea
Financial Systems Oy, Schiedel Savuhormistot Oy,
and Sodexho Shore Oy.

ENHANCED SERVICE CONCEPTS
Accountor’s financial management services comp-
rise process development consulting, ASP- and
Internet-based IT solutions and outsourcing servi-
ces. IAP solutions are a cost-effective method to
manage and control a company’s finances, irres-
pective of time and place. For instance, with
electronic purchase invoice handling system (IAP
Flow), users can gain significant cost savings com-
pared to traditional invoice handling systems.

During 2001, Accountor expanded its service
offering in cooperation with leading application
providers. The company also divided its services
into three concepts: Finance Department services
tailored for large organizations, Personnel Depart-
ment services for large organizations, and Accoun-
ting Firm services for small organizations.

Accountor’s services are closely linked with the
ASP service. All Accountor’s financial management
solutions are also available as an ASP service.
Accountor offers its customers a customized coo-
peration model, whereby the customer receives the
required solutions as an ASP service quickly with
a monthly pricing model.

PROCOUNTOR.COM SERVICE NOW
AVAILABLE
In the Financial Management business unit, Pro-
Countor International Oy started its service busi-
ness in 2001.The company’s Internet-based mana-
gement service ProCountor.com was opened for
business in the fall 2001 after a trial period. At the
moment, ProCountor.com is the only service of its
kind in Europe.

The number of ProCountor.com users has
increased rapidly. The first-stage users of this ser-
vice concept are small and medium-sized compa-
nies. ProCountor.com service has also been adop-
ted in various provincial development projects in
Finland.The sales and marketing efforts initiated in
the fall 2001 are expected to produce results
during 2002.

ProCountor.Com is an innovative service for
easily and effectively handling a company’s invoi-
cing, bookkeeping and other financial management
processes. It can also be integrated with an accoun-
ting firm’s service entity.

ProCountor.Com also allows the handling of
purchase and sales orders and inventory manage-
ment. In addition, ProCountor.com is integrated
with Manufacturing Channel Europe Oy’s business
management system offered to manufacturing com-
panies.

ProCountor.Com service provides thousands of
small and medium-sized companies and organiza-
tions with a completely new, timesaving alternati-
ve for handling the entire financial management on
the Internet.

Sales of Electronic Financial 
Management Solutions Boomed
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OUTSOURCING OF FINANCIAL MANA-
GEMENT ON THE INCREASE
Financial management is going through a transitio-
nal period. Key trends are a transfer to electronic
accounting routines and a more extensive use of
outsourcing. Even large finance departments can be
outsourced with modern IT solutions. Outsourcing
increases the flexibility of customers’ business
structures and improves the availability and the
level of the service.

An electronic business environment and the
development of business processes are expected to
save companies’ resources significantly. Proha’s

financial management services such as IAP service
are already able to meet these expectations.

Also in the year 2002, Proha’s Financial Mana-
gement growth strategy is based on integrating
electronic financial management services with cus-
tomers’ finance departments.

Accountor’s objective is to be the leading
financial management innovator within its market
area. The company strives for becoming a leading
provider of comprehensive finance department ser-
vices and financial management and control
solutions.
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Last fall, the TV company Fremantle Entertainment
entered the era of electronic financial management by
adopting the WinTime system as an Accountor ASP
service. Previously, the company had used Accountor’s
traditional financial management services.

The financial manager of Fremantle Entertain-
ment, Mr. Antero Hartonen finds this trend posi-
tive.

– Electronic financial management enables trans-
ferring routine tasks as close to production as pos-
sible. In addition, overlapping tasks are eliminated and
the speed and quality of reporting improved. Free
resources can be used to support company’s opera-
tions, notes Hartonen.

REPORTING TO THE PARENT COMPANY IS
EASIER THAN EVER BEFORE
So far Fremantle Entertainment’s experiences in the
electronic system have been very positive. Hartonen
especially appreciates the ease of the systems repor-
ting.This is a very important factor in an internatio-
nal company where reports are produced rapidly and
great demands are placed on report accuracy.

– Earlier, reporting was much more time consu-
ming, because we had to ask for all the figures from
the accountant. Now we can get the figures directly
from the system and import them to reporting temp-
lates.

Hartonen says that in addition to the ease of the
system’s reporting features, he also appreciates the
drill-down feature, i.e. the possibility to analyze the
report information all the way down to the transaction
level. This feature is useful in both analyzing the
reports to the parent company as well as in variance
analysis.

– Faster
handling of
raw data
enables the
analysis of the
m a t e r i a l
before sen-
ding it to the
parent com-
pany. Earlier
this wasn’t
really possib-
le.

Accoun-
tor customi-
zed the
r e p o r t i n g
templates for
its customer.
The project
was rather
demanding
b e c a u s e
during the transfer from the old system to the new
the cost unit structure of the system was also altered.

The next step in the development of the financial
management of Fremantle Entertainment is to par-
tially integrate payroll administration into the system.
Preliminary negotiations for implementing an electro-
nic invoice handling system as well as a project mana-
gement system have also been carried out. ❐

* Fremantle Entertainment is a subsidiary of Fremantle Media, an
international TV company. In Finland, Fremantle Entertainment is
known for programs such as Bumtsibum, Greed, Kuutamolla and Suuri
Seikkailu.

Fremantle Entertainment Benefits from Electronic
Financial Management



Signs of Growth in ASP Services
There are strong signals of rapid market growth and
growing interest in Proha’s ASP services. During
2001, Intellisoft Oy signed the first contracts on
providing large-scale project management solutions
as an ASP service for sectors such as the con-
struction industry. The ASP service of financial
management solutions also grew promisingly.

In 2001, a major part of Intellisoft’s business con-
sisted of ASP services supporting Proha’s other busi-
ness areas. In the last quarter of 2001, Intellisoft
also started to sell ASP services directly to custo-
mers. Intellisoft’s market share of the Finnish ASP
service market was approximately eight per cent,
and approximately 16 per cent of the business appli-
cations market in 2001.

Intellisoft’s ASP service was started in 2000, and
the initial development phase (premises with
hardware and software together with testing) was
completed by the end of June 2001.

Internet Technologies supports Proha's other
business areas.All Proha’s Internet Technology busi-
ness operations are incorporated in Intellisoft Oy.

POSITIVE MARKET DEVELOPMENT
International research institutions such as Gartner
Group and IDC forecast nearly explosive growth
for the ASP service sector during the next few
years. Gartner sees that in the next five years this
sector will be the leading force of the IT market,
and believes that by 2004 every third business appli-
cation will be acquired as an ASP service. Accor-
ding to these analysts, Europe will lead the deve-
lopment ahead of the United States.

Interest in the ASP services has grown: more and
more companies are willing to focus their invest-
ments on their core competencies and outsource
management systems instead of buying them. As
networking and project-based working become
more common, the number of these kinds of com-
panies increases respectively.

Intellisoft estimates that the development of the
market will still be moderate during the first half
of 2002.Although markets show clear signs of rapid
growth, companies are considering carefully befo-
re making final purchase decisions.

INTELLISOFT FOCUSES ON ITS CORE
COMPETENCE
In 2002, Intellisoft focus will be on providing cus-
tomers with comprehensive solutions composed of
various applications. The share of Intellisoft’s own
direct sales in net sales will increase substantially,
and the share of outsourcing more moderately.

The share of technical services in Intellisoft’s
business will be decreased. In January 2002, Intel-
lisoft agreed to outsource the hosting and network
services to Xenetic Oy, which enables Intellisoft to
focus more closely on its core competencies.

Intellisoft plans a customized service entity
together with the customer, integrates the applica-
tions with the customer’s system and takes care of
the implementation and support. Xenetic Oy ensu-
res the availability of the customer’s IT solutions 24
hours a day, seven days a week.

Intellisoft offers an extensive range of Proha’s
project management, financial management, and
third-party solutions as an ASP service. Partners
include BasWare, Elma, Jeeves Information Systems,
Opus Capita, SAP Finland, Posten Sverige, QPR
Software, and Single Source. Intellisoft continuous-
ly expands its partner and cooperation network to
add value to its customers.

ECONOMIES OF SCALE WITH SMALL
INVESTMENTS
ASP service is an optimal solution for more and
more companies’ IT systems. Lower costs and mini-
mal need for resources make the implementation of
an ASP service relatively easy. With ASP services,
companies are able to adopt heavyweight systems
with low investments and small risks.This, for ins-
tance, is crucial in many short-term projects.

The implementation process of an ASP service
is extremely fast. For example, electronic invoice
handling systems can be adopted in just one day by
changing the invoicing address. Normally this kind
of process could take months.

In the present business environment, the role of
rapid implementation has grown, since staying com-
petitive requires companies to react faster to ever-
changing market conditions. A system that requires
several months implementation may prove to be
insufficient already before the implementation pro-
cess is finished.

An ASP service also provides rapid realization of
benefits, such as when an investment supports or
increases the core business. Growth is naturally slo-
wer if investments first need to be paid off by the
return.
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YIELDING CUMULATIVE RETURNS
From the provider’s viewpoint,ASP service is a very
predictable, controllable and secure business. ASP
service contracts are long-term and yield cumula-
tive returns (see picture). Predictability and security
lay a good foundation for running a cost-effective
business.

Last year, SRV
Group outsourced
the maintenance of
its project cost
management sys-
tem entirely to
Artemis Finland.
For SRV Group,
the solution is both
a significant policy
choice as well as a
pioneering act in
Finland. Intellisoft
Oy, a subsidiary of
the Proha Group,
is responsible for
the implementa-
tion of the ASP sys-
tem.

Development
manager of the
SRV Group, Mr.

Tuomo Poutiainen points out that outsourcing
agrees very well with the company policy.

– The aim is to outsource the support functions
of the project cost management, so that we can
concentrate on our core competence_project mana-
gement. In addition, our working methods become
consistent when all SRV subsidiaries can use the same
system, says Poutiainen.

Poutiainen emphasizes, that an outsourced sys-

tem produces a lean organization.
– SRV had to decide whether or not to expand

its own IT unit as well as its expenses. Because the
idea of SRV is to operate a lean organization and
concentrate on its core competence, we didn’t see
any reason to make an exception here, Poutiainen
notes.

AIMING AT COST-EFFECTIVENESS
Poutiainen points out that the advantages of out-

sourcing are clearly visible, especially in terms of
cost-effectiveness.

– Outsourcing this type of solution is much more
cost-effective for the customer than acquiring the
entire system and machinery itself, and more profi-
table than maintaining it with its own staff and con-
sultants, Poutiainen calculates.

– There is a lot of special know-how in the Intel-
lisoft service center, and there is no need for each
construction company to acquire that for themsel-
ves. If large enough, a centralized service center can
purchase machinery and licenses much more eco-
nomically than a single construction company can.
By cooperating we can utilize the economies of scale.

The contract is also a significant opening for Intel-
lisoft in the area of project management. So far most
of the company’s ASP customers have only been
using financial management services. Managing
director of Intellisoft Oy, Mr. Raimo Vaalasranta
believes that the interest in project management ASP
services will grow rapidly in the near future. ❐
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CONSTRUCTION COMPANY WANTS TO CONCENTRATE ON ITS CORE BUSINESS

SRV Group outsourced the maintenance of its cost
management system
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Personnel
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Growth in the number of Proha personnel levelled off in 2001 after the Com-
pany had reached its growth target during 2000. As of the end of 2001, the
Proha Group employed 638 people, compared to 634 in 2000. At the end of
September 2001, the number of personnel worldwide was 717, decreasing by
79 people during the last quarter of 2001.The largest decrease was in the Uni-
ted States (42 people), mainly due to the combination of Opus360 Corpora-
tion and Artemis operations.

At the end of 2001, a total of 507 people worked in the area of Project
Management, 95 in Financial Management, and 36 in Internet Technologies.
The number of employees in Finland was 231, while 407 worked abroad. In
2001, the Group employed an average of 690 people.

In Finland, annual personnel turnover is around 10 per cent. The figure
changes from country to country reflecting different labor markets and cultu-
res.

As an incentive system, Proha has a number of employee stock option plans
that cover all permanent employees.
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Trading on the Helsinki stock
exhange
The number of registered shareholders of Proha Plc totaled 3,793 at the end of the financial year 2001.
During 2001, the share price was EUR 0.27 at its lowest and EUR 3.15 at its highest. Market capitaliza-
tion was approximately EUR 19.9 million at the end of 2001.
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CLOSING AND EQUITY TURNOVER

Equity analysts following Proha
Conventum Pankkiiriliike Oy Marko Maunula marko.maunula@conventum.fi
FIM Pankkiiriliike Oy Mikko Linnanvuori mikko.linnanvuori@fim.com
Handelsbanken Securities Antti Suttelin antti.suttelin@handelsbanken.fi
Mandatum Pankkiiriliike Oy Mikael Ilmari mikael.ilmari@mandatum.fi
Opstock Pankkiiriliike Pekka Suhonen pekka.suhonen@oko.fi



Currently, the Proha Board of Directors consists of
the Chairman and seven members. According to
the Company’s Articles of Association, the Board
of Directors is required to have at least three and
no more than eight members. Members are elected
by the Annual General Meeting of shareholders for
one-year terms.

In 2001, the Proha Board convened 14 times.
The members of the Proha Board of Directors

are Olof Ödman (Chairman), James Cannavino,
Klaus Cawén, Alec Gores, Ari Horowitz, Pekka
Pere (President and Chief Executive Officer), Peter
Schwartz and Steven Yager.

One of the founders of Proha, Mr. Pekka Mäke-
lä, resigned from the Board of Directors on July
30, 2001 but continues to contribute his time and
extensive experience in project management at
Proha’s training and consulting team. Mr. Mäkelä
is still one of the major shareholders of Proha.

Olof Ödman
(Born 1943) 
M.Sc.
Founder and Chairman of the Board of META-
Group in Sweden and Finland.
President and CEO of the Databolin Group in
Scandinavia (1979-1994).
Chairman of the Board of Jeeves Information
Systems AB, Best Technology AB, Witit AB,
Transaction Network Services TNS AB, Dovre
International AS and Safran Software Solutions AS
in Norway.
Chairman and Member of the Board of Directors
of Proha Plc since 1999.

Pekka Pere
(Born 1957)
President and Chief Executive Officer of Proha Plc.
Co-founder of Proha.
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Eficor Plc.
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of
Federation of the Finnish Information Industries.
Member of the Board of Directors of Proha Plc
since 1999.

James Cannavino
(Born 1944)
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
Board of CyberSafe Corporation.
Previously President and Chief Operating Officer
for Perot Systems Corporation and Senior Vice
President for strategy and development at IBM.
Chairman of the Board of Softworks.
Member of the Board of Directors of Proha Plc
since July 30, 2001.
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Klaus Cawén
(Born 1957)
LL.M. (Helsinki and Columbia University)
Executive Vice President and Member of the
Board of Directors of KONE Corporation.
Member of the Board of Oy Karl Fazer Ab.
Member of the Board of Directors of Proha Plc
since 1999.

Alec Gores
(Born 1953)
Founder and Chairman of Gores Technology
Group, a privately held company that has acqui-
red and managed approximately 40 technology
companies.
Mr. Gores holds a degree in computer science
from Western Michigan University.
Member of the Board of Directors of Proha Plc
since 2000.

Ari Horowitz
(Born 1968) 
B. Economics
Vice Chairman, Executive Vice President of Cor-
porate Development, Artemis International
Solutions Corporation.
Co-founder and CEO of the former Opus360 
Corporation.
Member of the Board of Directors for 
NetVendor, Inc.
Member of the Board of Directors of Proha Plc
since July 30, 2001.

Peter Schwartz 
(Born 1943)
MBA
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of Artemis International Solutions Corpo-
ration.
Formerly held position as Chief Financial Office
of Computer Associates International, Inc. among
others.
Member of the Board of Directors of Proha Plc
since July 30, 2001.

Steven C. Yager
(Born 1953)
BBA, B. Economics
President and Chief Executive Officer of Artemis
International Solutions Corporation until January
25, 2002.
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors for
Artemis International Solutions Corporation.
Member of the Board of Directors of Proha Plc
since 2000.
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Review by the Board of Directors
January 1 – December 31, 2001
Proha is a global software company focusing on
maximizing its customer’s business performance by
providing management solutions. By the beginning
of 2001, Proha had become an international softwa-
re company, operating in all major markets
worldwide. During the financial year 2001, the
focus shifted from growth to products and business
operations. New products were introduced, and the
business area strategy was clarified. International
events changed the market situation significantly,
however, Proha was able to adapt its operations to
the changed situation. Net sales grew by 129%
compared to the financial year 2000, remaining at
the same level with the pro forma figures of 2000
(the 12-month net sales of the companies acquired
in 2000 included).

Net sales of the Proha Group’s largest business
area, Project Management, were EUR 76.5 million
in 2001.The fourth quarter net sales of EUR 21.5
million were the year’s best and can be considered
an excellent result given the changed market situa-
tion. This speaks of many things, for instance, that
the project management business is based on long-
term cooperation with the clients and that the pro-
ject management products have a strategic position
in providing client companies with support.

The Financial Management business area conti-
nued to grow steadily. Net sales increased in 2001
and the growth in the fourth quarter was 13%
compared to 2000. International events did not
have a significant impact on the development of this
sector. In 2001, the Financial Management business
area achieved its previously set targets in the deve-
lopment of services, products and business volu-
me.

In the Internet Technologies business area,
Intellisoft’s ASP service was started in 2000 and the
initial development phase (premises with hardwa-
re and software together with testing) was comp-
leted during the first half of 2001. The first ASP
service clients were secured during the second half
of the year. In addition to selling ASP services to

outside customers Intellisoft also supports both of
the Proha’s two other business areas.

NET SALES AND RESULT DEVELOPMENT
The Proha Group’s net sales in 2001 increased by
129% to EUR 82.8 million (EUR 36.1 million in
2000). Earnings before financial expenses, taxes,
and depreciation (EBITDA) was EUR -4.4 million
(EUR 3.8 million in 2000).

The operating loss was EUR -6.1 million,
against operating profit of EUR 1.9 million in
2000. the result before appropriations and taxes
was EUR -7.2 million (EUR 1.5 million in 2000),
which is -8.7% of net sales. Earnings per share
amounted to EUR -0.20 (EUR 0.03 in 2000).

FINANCING AND INVESTMENTS
The financial position of the Group is satisfactory.
At the end of the year 2001, the balance sheet total
was EUR 54.4 million, compared to EUR 55.7 mil-
lion in 2000. Cash items and short term invest-
ments stood at EUR 7.0 million, against EUR 6.1
million in 2000. The Quick Ratio was 0.91, com-
pared to 1.11 in 2000.

The Group’s gross investments were EUR 3.3
million.The product development expenses of stra-
tegic products totalled EUR 11.6 million, of which
EUR 11.2 million was expensed.

Interest-bearing liabilities were equivalent to
9.7% of the Group’s capital and reserves total at
the end of the year (6.6% in 2000).

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT
A total of 14.0%, EUR 11.6 million, of the
Group’s net sales were invested in the development
of strategic products (9.9% and EUR 3.6 million
in 2000). In addition, tactical products were deve-
loped regionally. The development of these pro-
ducts were partly carried out as customer projects.
The development expenses of all tactical products
have been expensed in full.
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NET SALES BY BUSINESS AREA, EUR 1,000:

Business Area Net sales External Intergroup
Artemis companies 
(Project Management) 79,834 76,509 3,324
Accountor companies
(Financial Management) 5,091 4,681 411
Intellisoft companies 
(Internet Technologies) 2,081 761 1,320
Other areas 2,264 894 1,370

Total 89,270 82,845 6,425



In the Project Management business area, Por-
folioDirector™, a new Artemis product for invest-
ment portfolio management, was launched global-
ly in Fall 2001.The new product expands Artemis’
product offering to strategic management.The first
PortfolioDirector™ deal was made earlier than
expected, in December 2001. Several pilot projects
were also launched.

Artemis ViewPoint™ was introduced in
November. The first deliveries will take place in
April 2002.

During Spring 2002, Artemis ResourcePlanner
will be introduced.

All new Artemis products are Java-based, and
they can be used on the Internet via Web browsers.

The product development of the Workforce
Procurement and WorkForce Management applica-
tions, received as part of the Opus360 transaction,
was terminated due to a difficult market situation
in the Fall 2001.

In the Financial Management business area, the
Proha subsidiary Accountor Oy continued to deve-
lop its services into Finance Department, Person-
nel Department and Accounting Company concepts
as planned. The major development investments
associated with them have now been made.

The most significant application development
initiative of Accountor Oy was the launch of an
electronic purchase invoicing handling ASP service
called IAP (Internet Accounting Partner) Flow. IAP
Flow is targeted at large companies, which can
attain significant cost savings by automatizing the
entire invoice handling process.

Another Proha subsidiary in the Financial Mana-
gement business area, ProCountor International
Oy, introduced ProCountor.com, a Web-based
management service in the summer 2001. The
main target group of ProCountor.com are small
and medium-sized enterprises.The number of Pro-
Countor.com users has increased rapidly.

In the Internet Technologies business area, the
Proha subsidiary Intellisoft Oy continued to integ-
rate its own and licensed software according to
plan, enabling the rapid growth of the ASP servi-
ces in 2002.

ACQUISITIONS AND CHANGES IN 
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Artemis Operations in Asia
In January 2001, Proha acquired the entire share
capital of JST Investment (Asia) Pte Ltd and 25%
of the share capital of PMsoft Korea Ltd.These sha-
res were transferred to Artemis International

Solutions Corporation (former Opus360 Corpora-
tion) as part of the Opus360 transaction.

Holding in the Norwegian Dovre 
International AS
In February, Proha subsidiary Safran Software
Solutions AS acquired 40% of the share capital of
Dovre International AS, a subsidiary of Dovreg-
ruppen AS. Safran also received an option to
purchase the remaining 60% of Dovre’s shares
between 2003 and 2006. Dovre is a leading Norwe-
gian consulting company specializing in project
management, which has offices in Oslo, Stavanger,
Houston, Baku and Aberdeen.

Opus360 Corporation Transaction in the
United States
Proha Plc and Opus360 Corporation, a US-based
software company, agreed on a transaction pursuant
to which Proha received 80% of the entire share
capital of Opus360 Corporation i.e. 199.5 million
shares in exchange for the Artemis businesses and
19.9% of Proha’s subsidiaries Intellisoft Oy and
Accountor Oy. The transaction was implemented
in a two-step process on July 31, 2001 and Novem-
ber 20, 2001. As a result of the transaction,
Opus360 Corporation became the parent compa-
ny of Proha’s Artemis Group. The combined busi-
ness operations continue to operate under the name
Artemis International Solutions Corporation. The
combination of the operations was completed
during 2001.

Withdrawal from the Swiss Investment
Agreement
In December, Proha Plc and the Swiss Sauter Trai-
ning & Simulation SA (STS) mutually agreed to
withdraw from the investment agreed upon on
January 15, 2001.The withdrawal from the invest-
ment agreement did not affect the global access or
distribution of STS Internet-based training techno-
logy as part of the Proha Group’s Artemis products.

Expansion of Accountor Services in Fin-
land
In March, Proha subsidiary Accountor Oy, acqui-
red the entire share capital of the Finnish-based
accounting firm Taloushallinta Oy Tilikolmio. This
acquisition expanded the Accountor IAP services
with taxation expert services.

Divestment of LocalEyes Suomi Oy
In June 2001, Proha Plc sold the rest of its holding
in LocalEyes Suomi Oy to LocalEyes Ltd, a subg-
roup of the Italian-based Opera Multimedia S.p.A,
for EUR 314,000. A year earlier, Proha had spun
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off its localization business to LocalEyes Suomi Oy,
and Opera Multimedia had purchased a 51% hol-
ding in the new company.

SIGNIFICANT AGREEMENTS

Project Management
In April 2001, Proha Group’s Norwegian-based
associated company, Dovre International AS, signed
an extensive framework agreement with Norsk
Hydro Produksjon Aa. Dovre was selected as Norsk
Hydro’s most important supplier of consultants and
competence within Project Management and Supp-
ly Chain Management. The validity of the agree-
ment is 3 years, and it includes an option to extend
the agreement to 9 years.

In May, Artemis International Solutions
announced four new customer partnerships on the
implementation of project and resource collabora-
tion solutions. The US partners include USAA
(insurance and finance), Lockheed Martin (aero-
nautics and defense),The Vermont Agency of Trans-
portation (transportation), FuelCell Energy
(electrical engineering).

In September, Artemis International Solutions
Corporation signed an agreement with the US-
based Intraspect Software, Inc., under which Arte-
mis will embed Intraspect’s collaboration platform
in the Artemis Views products.

In November, Dovre International AS signed a
significant agreement with the Norwegian state-
owned oil company Statoil. Statoil chose Dovre to
perform commissioning assistance for the Mikkel
oilfield project.The agreement is valid for 2 years,
and the expected workload is over 10 man-years.

Financial Management
In January 2001, Proha Plc and BasWare Plc sig-
ned an agreement on worldwide cooperation.
Under the agreement, Proha offers Basware’s e-
Flow PIP purchase invoice processing software and
Target products as an ASP service. Proha's ASP ser-
vice and BREVe electronic invoice handling servi-
ce are combined with Basware's myeflow.com
electronic invoicing service. Proha is also entitled
to resell BasWare's e-Flow PIP and Target products

in countries where these products are available as
ASP services.

In January, Proha Plc and Elma Oy Electronic
Trading (Elma) agreed on strategic cooperation
under which Proha combines Elma’s electronic
invoicing services with its ProCountor.com and IAP
(Internet Accounting Partner) services. Coopera-
tion in the electronic invoicing field covers Finland
and other Nordic countries. The agreement also
includes Elma's automatic electronic statement
transfer service provided to the Finnish authorities
(TYVI).

In February, Proha Plc and SAP Finland signed
a strategic partnership agreement. Pursuant to the
agreement, the Proha subsidiary Accountor Oy is
the first in Finland to offer mySAP.com solution as
an ASP service. The agreement covers the entire
European Economic Area and Switzerland.The ser-
vice is part of Accountor’s IAP service.

In May, Proha Plc signed an agreement with
Manufacturing Channel Europe Oy on offering its
business management system worldwide as part of
Proha’s ProCountor.com and ASP services within
the Financial Management business area. Manu-
facturing Channel business management system is
an Internet service designed for manufacturing
companies.

OTHER GROUP EVENTS

Group Structure
During the Spring of 2001, the business operations
were rearranged into companies operating within
the Group's three business areas.

Changes in the Trading of Artemis 
Shares
The shares of Artemis International Solutions Cor-
poration (former Opus360 Corporation) were
delisted from the Nasdaq National Market on June
28, 2001. The trading of the shares on the OTC
Bulletin Board (OTCBB) commenced on June 29,
2001.

The new trading symbol of Artemis Internatio-
nal Solutions Corporation on the Nasdaq OTCBB
markets, AISC, was taken into use on November
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CHANGES IN THE SHARE CAPITAL
On January 1, 2001, the Company share capital was EUR 13,702,032.50 and the number of Company shares
was 52,700,125.The number of shares and the share capital changed during the year 2001 as follows:

Change (shares) Change (EUR) Reason
Jan. 5. +278,275 +72,351.50 PMsoft Asia
Jan. 18. +36,130 +9,393.80 PMsoft Korea
Aug. 15. -1,960,180 -509,646.80 Cancellation of shares

On December 31, 2001 the number of shares was 51,054,350 and the share capital was EUR
13,274,131.00.



29, 2001. Former trading symbol was OPUS.

TRADING ON THE HELSINKI STOCK
EXCHANGE
The number of registered shareholders of Proha Plc
totaled 3,793 at the end of the financial year 2001.
During 2001, the share price was EUR 0.27 at its
lowest and EUR 3.15 at its highest. Market capita-
lization was approximately EUR 19.9 million at the
end of 2001.

On February 1, 2002, the share capital was
increased by EUR 211,359.20 (812,920 shares) fol-
lowing the directed share issues to the shareholders
of the German Artemis International GmbH and
the Norwegian Safran Software Solutions AS. The
share capital after the increases was EUR
13,485,490.20, and the number of shares was
51,867,270.

CANCELLATION OF COMPANY SHARES
In accordance with the decision of the Proha Plc
Extraordinary General Meeting on July 30, 2001, a
total of 1,960,180 Proha Plc shares owned by Arte-
mis Acquisition Corporation were cancelled and the
share capital of Proha was reduced by EUR
509,646.80. The amount was transferred to the
share premium account, which is the Company’s
restricted capital. Decrease in the share capital does
not have an impact on the distribution of share
ownership or voting rights, since the cancelled sha-
res were owned by the Company’s subsidiary Arte-
mis Acquisition Corporation.

INCENTIVE SYSTEM FOR PERSONNEL
At the beginning of 2001, the incentive system for
personnel consisted of two valid option programs.
The option program for 1999 entitles to subscribe
a total of 303,050 Proha Plc shares with a subscrip-
tion period of January 2, 2001 - January 2, 2003.
The subscription price is EUR 1.60. The option
program for 2000 entitles to subscribe a total of
975,000 Proha Plc shares with a subscription period
of December 1, 2001 - December 1, 2004. The
subscription price is EUR 2.94.

In 2001, stock options were granted to the per-
sonnel of the Proha Group and the members of the
Proha Board of Directors in two stages. A total of
19,441,000 stock options were issued, entitling to
a total of 1,944,100 Proha Plc shares with a
subscription period of February 4, 2002 - Februa-
ry 4, 2006. The subscription price is EUR 1.35.

The option issue was based on the authorization
of the Extraordinary General Meeting to the Board
of Directors held on December 13, 2000 to incre-
ase the Company share capital by a maximum of
EUR 520,000 by issuing a maximum of 20,000,000

stock options that entitle to a subscription of
2,000,000 shares in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the option issue. The authorization is
no longer valid.

PERSONNEL
During the last quarter of 2001, the number of per-
sonnel decreased worldwide by 79 employees,
mostly in the United States (42 employees) due to
the combination of Opus360 Corporation and Arte-
mis operations. At the end of 2001, the number of
employees in the Proha Group was 638, compared
to 634 in 2000. Staff expenses were EUR 49.2 mil-
lion (EUR 17.3 million in 2000), 59.4% of net sales
(47.9% in 2000). At the end of 2001, 507 people
worked in the area of Project Management, 95 in
Financial Management, and 36 in Internet Techno-
logies. The number of employees in Finland was
231, while 407 worked abroad. The average num-
ber of personnel in 2001 was 690.

AUTHORIZATION TO ISSUE SHARES
On December 17, 2001, the Proha Board of
Directors was authorized by the Extraordinary
General Meeting to decide on increasing the share
capital through one or more new subscriptions
having a total combined value of a maximum of
10,000,000 new shares, each share having a book
parity of EUR 0.26. On the basis of this authoriza-
tion, the Company’s share capital can be increased
by a maximum of EUR 2,600,000.

After the directed issues to the shareholders of
the Norwegian Safran Software Solutions AS and the
German Artemis International GmbH in January
2002 (a total of 812,920 new shares), the number
of unused shares is 9,187,080 (EUR 2,388,640.80).
The authorization is valid until December 16, 2002.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Proha Plc is managed by the CEO and the Board of
Directors. The President and CEO is Pekka Pere
and the Chairman of the Board is Olof Ödman.The
other members of the Board of Directors are James
A. Cannavino (as of July 30, 2001), Klaus Cawén,
Alec Gores, Ari Horowitz (as of July 30, 2001),
Peter Schwartz (as of July 30, 2001), and Steven
Yager. Mr. Pekka Mäkelä resigned from the Board
on July 30, 2001.

The Company’s auditor is KPMG Wideri Oy Ab,
with Mr. Reino Tikkanen, APA, as the auditor in
charge.

The President and CEO of Artemis Internatio-
nal Solutions Corporation in the United States is in
charge of the Project Management business area
worldwide. In 2001, the President and CEO was
Steven Yager and as of January 25, 2002 the Presi-
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dent and CEO is Michael J. Rusert. Proha Plc owns
80% of the Artemis shares and votes.

The Managing Director of Accountor Oy, Juha
Tommila, is in charge of the Financial Management
business area. The Managing Director of Intellisoft
Oy, Raimo Vaalasranta, is in charge of the Internet
Technologies business area. Mr. Tommila and Mr.
Vaalasranta report to Mr. Pekka Pere.

Proha Plc follows the insider guidelines of the
Helsinki Stock Exchange.

DECISIONS OF THE GENERAL MEETINGS

The Annual General Meeting of Proha
Plc held on April 4, 2001
– approved the 2000 Financial Statements and

discharged the members of the Board of Di-
rectors and the CEO from liability for 2000.

– approved the Board of Directors’ proposal
according to which no dividend is paid from
the distributable earnings.

– decided to amend Sections 12 and 13 of the
Articles of Association in accordance with the
proposal of the Board of Directors.

"12§ Advance Registration
In order to participate in the General Meeting, a
shareholder must register at the company before
the registration date and time specified in the noti-
ce of the meeting. Registration can be determined
to end not earlier than ten (10) days before the
meeting."
"13§ Notice of Meeting
The notice of the General Meeting must be sent to
the shareholders not earlier than two (2) months
and not later than seventeen (17) days before the
meeting by publishing an announcement of the
meeting in at least one Finnish newspaper designa-
ted by the Board of Directors or by sending the
notice to the shareholders by registered mail to the
address registered in the shareholders' register."

Extraordinary General Meeting held
on July 30, 2001
The Extraordinary General Meeting of Proha Plc
approved the Board of Directors’ proposal for
– the share exchange agreement between Proha

Plc and Opus360 Corporation, a US-based
software company.

– the cancellation of Proha Plc shares owned by
Proha Plc’s subsidiary Artemis Acquisition
Corporation.

– amending the Articles of Association.
"6§ Board of Directors
The Board of Directors of the company is compo-

sed of no less than three (3) and no more than eight
(8) members. Their term ends at the end of the
first Annual General Meeting following the
election.

In the first meeting after the election of the
Board of Directors, the Board appoints one mem-
ber to be the Chairman of the Board and another
member to be the Vice-Chairman of the Board,
whose term lasts until the end of the Annual Gene-
ral Meeting following the election."
– increasing the number of members in the Bo-

ard to eight ordinary members instead of the
previous six.

– Mr. Pekka Mäkelä resigned from the Board of
Directors. The members of Opus360 Corpo-
ration Board of Directors, Ari Horowitz and
James A. Cannavino, as well as Chief Financial
Officer Peter Schwartz were elected as the
new members of Proha Board of Directors.
Olof Ödman will continue as the Chairman
and Steven Yager, Alec Gores, Pekka Pere, and
Klaus Cawén as members of the Board of Di-
rectors.

Extraordinary General Meeting held
on December 17, 2001
The Extraordinary General Meeting of Proha Plc
held on December 17, 2001 resolved
– to accept the Board of Directors’ proposal for

issuing a maximum of 1,500,000 stock op-
tions. As a result of the subscriptions, the sha-
re capital of Proha Plc can increase by a ma-
ximum of 1,500,000 new shares and at the
most by EUR 390,000.

– to authorize the Board to decide on increasing
the share capital with one or more new
subscriptions in such a manner that a maxi-
mum of 10,000,000 new shares with a book
parity of EUR 0.26 can be subscribed for in
the new subscription. On the basis of this aut-
horization, the Company’s share capital can be
increased by a maximum of EUR 2,600,000.

– to approve the special conditions of the stock
option plan for 2001 in respect to US emplo-
yees.

APPLICATION OF EARNINGS
The Proha Board of Directors proposes that the
profit for the financial year be entered in capital
and reserves and no dividend be paid.
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EVENTS AFTER THE FINANCIAL 
YEAR 2001

Development of the Group Structure
At the end of 2001, Proha began to examine the
possibility to demerge the Group into global Arte-
mis software business and Nordic software and ser-
vice business.

The Proha Board of Directors decided to con-
tinue to study various alternatives to develop the
Group structure. The study continues to explore
ways to increase the free float of Artemis shares in
the US-markets and to strengthen the Nordic busi-
ness operations. Demerger is not considered to be
the most probable option and no demerger actions
should be expected in the near future.

Increases in the Share Capital
In January 2002, Proha acquired the remaining
43.2% share in the German Artemis International
GmbH. In the directed issue, the shareholders of
the German Artemis were offered a total of
312,920 new Proha Plc shares, with a book parity
of EUR 81,359.20. This directed issue was in line
with the purchase agreement made on September
1, 2000, according to which Proha acquired 30.8%
of the shares of the German Artemis. The shares
were transferred to Artemis International Solutions
Corporation as the final payment of the share
exchange agreement signed between Proha Plc and
Opus360 Corporation on April 11, 2001.

In January 2002, the Proha Board of Directors
used the option to acquire the remaining 40% of
the Norwegian Safran Software Solutions AS (Saf-
ran) shares as per purchase agreement of April 6,
2000. In the directed issue, the shareholders of Saf-
ran were offered a total of 500,000 new Proha Plc
shares, with a book parity of EUR 130,000.00.

Proha Sold Its Investment in Widene Oy
In January 2002, Proha Plc sold its share in Wide-
ne Oy, an IT growth company, in which Proha
made a capital investment in November 2000.The
price corresponded to the original investment and
it was not disclosed, since it was such a small part
of Proha’s business.

Intellisoft Outsourced Server 
Maintenance
In January 2002, Intellisoft decided to subcontract
the hosting and network services to Xenetic Oy.
Intellisoft focuses on its core know-how, the offe-
ring of service entities.

Artemis’ New President and CEO and
Board of Directors
The Artemis International Solutions Corporation
(AISC) Board of Directors named Michael J. Rusert
as President and CEO of Artemis International
Solutions Corporation as of January 25, 2002. At
the same time, Mr. Rusert was elected as a Board
member. The former President and CEO Steven
Yager continues as a member of the Board. He was
also elected as Vice Chairman of the Board.

Mr. James Cannavino, an Artemis Board mem-
ber since January 1999, was elected as Chairman
of the AISC Board of Directors. The other mem-
bers of the AISC Board of Directors are Klaus
Cawén, Alec Gores, Ari Horowitz, Pekka Pere,
Bryan Plug, and Olof Ödman.

Artemis’ Partnership Agreement with
Severn
In February 2002, Artemis International Solutions
Corporation and Severn Consultancy, an interna-
tional management consultancy, signed a strategic
partnership agreement to sell and implement Arte-
mis PortfolioDirector into Severn’s client base in
Europe.

PROSPECTS FOR THE NEAR FUTURE
Due to uncertain general economic situation,
Proha’s budget for the financial year 2002 is based
on profitability without growth. However, a 20%
increase in net sales is set as a sales target.

The result for the first quarter in 2002 (EBIT-
DA) is expected to exceed budget and be slightly
positive. Owing to seasonal fluctuations, the result
is anticipated to improve during the last quarter of
2002.
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account,
1000 eur

Jan.1-Dec.31,2001 Jan.1-Dec.31,2000
Note 12 months 12 months

Net sales 1) 82,845 36,149

Share of results of associated companies –900 –56

Other operating income 2) 547 2,227

Raw materials and services –13,564 –5,777

Staff expenses 3) –49,188 –17,324

Depreciation and reduction in value 4) –1,704 –1,874

Other operating charges –24,135 –11,402

Operating profit/loss –6,098 1,943

Financial income and expenses 5) –1,147 –407

Profit/loss before extraordinary items –7,246 1,537

Profit/loss before appropriations and taxes –7,246 1,537

Income taxes 7) –3,620 –486

Minority interest 781 –126

Profit/loss for the financial year –10,085 925
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Consolidated Balance Sheet, 1000 eur
ASSETS Note Jan.1-Dec.31,2001 Jan.1-Dec.31,2000
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 8) 1,468 1,407
Consolidated goodwill 8) 15,862 16,112
Tangible assets 9) 3,069 2,885

Investments 11)

Holdings in Participating Interests 2,386 1,562
Other shares and similar rights of ownership 271 1,144

Investments total 2,657 2,706

Non-current assets total 23,056 23,111

Current assets
Stocks 13) 0 145

Non-current debtors 14) 0 361
Current debtors 15) 24,254 26,001

Short-term investments 16) 93 270
Cash in hand and at bank 6,954 5,787

Current assets total 31,301 32,564

Assets total 54,357 55,675

LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves 17)

Share capital 13,274 13,702
Share premium account 3,816 3,107
Retained earnings 2,522 1,606
Profit/loss for the financial year –10,085 925
Translation difference 2,887 1,301

Capital loan 18) 187 187

Capital and reserves total 12,601 20,828

Minority Reserve 1,125 325

Provisions 19) 825 468

Consolidation reserve 10) 3,544 0

Creditors
Non-current creditors 20) 1,901 5,173
Current creditors 21) 34,362 28,880

Creditors total 36,263 34,053

Liabilities total 54,357 55,675
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Parent Company Profit and Loss
Account, 1000 eur

Jan.1-Dec.31,2001 Jan.1-Dec.31,2000
Note 12 months 12 months

Net sales 1) 1,159 1,729

Other operating income 2) 102 1,472

Raw materials and services 407 –464

Staff expenses 3) –488 –526

Depreciation and reduction in value 4) –925 –518

Other operating charges –2,913 –1,828

Operating loss –2,658 –135

Financial income and expenses 5) 25 755

Profit/loss before extraordinary items –2,634 620

Extraordinary items 6) 711 79

Profit/loss before appropriations and taxes –1,923 699

Income taxes 7) 35 –242

Profit/loss for the financial year –1,888 457
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Parent Company Balance Sheet, 1000 eur
ASSETS Note Dec. 31, 2001 Dec. 31, 2000

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 12) 981 872

Tangible assets 12) 512 616

Investments 13)

Holdings in Group companies 12,837 11,911
Holdings in Participating interests 1,264 1,058

Investments total 14,101 12,968

Non-current assets total 15,593 14,456

Current assets
Non-current debtors 14) 110 0

Current debtors 15) 1,597 5,322

Cash in hand and at bank 496 1,447

Current assets total 2,203 6,769

Assets total 17,797 21,225

LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves 17)

Share capital 13,274 13,702
Share premium account 3,246 2,577
Retained earnings 990 533
Profit/loss for the financial year –1,888 457

Capital and reserves total 15,622 17,269

Creditors
Non-current creditors 20) 316 253
Current creditors 21) 1,859 3,703

Creditors total 2,175 3,956

Liabilities total 17,797 21,225



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement,
1000 eur
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2001 2000
12 months 12 months

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating profit/loss –6,098 1,943
Adjustments 2,768 1,208
Change in working capital –7,644 –6,712
Interest paid –1,418 –644
Interest received 272 231
Taxes paid –600 –486

Total –12,720 –4,460

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments in tangible and intangible assets –927 –2,691
Disposals of tangible and intangible assets 0 206
Capital expenditures in other investments 0 –934
Disposals of other investments 108 485
Loans granted –537 –169
Repayments of loan receivables 0 9
Subsidiaries acquired –686 –2,366
Subsidiaries sold 0 4
Participating interests acquired 0 –850
Dividends received from investments 0 6

Total –2,042 –6,300

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Share issue 0 2,242
Proceeds from sale of company shares 0 2,856
Other increase in capital 0 1,300
Short-term loans and repayments 3,184 2,179
Long-term loans and repayments –3,268 –1,142

Total –84 7,435

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS –14,846 –3,325

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 5,787 5,458
Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiaries acquired 16,013 3,654
Change in cash and cash equivalents –14,846 –3,325

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 6,954 5,787



Parent Company Cash Flow Statement,
1000 eur
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2001 2000
12 months 12 months

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating profit/loss –2,658 –134
Adjustments 924 518
Change in working capital 1,014 –1,241
Interest paid –45 –32
Interest received 79 106
Taxes paid –65 –242

Total –751 –1,025

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments in tangible and intangible assets –930 –2,006
Loans granted –110 –1,983
Capital expenditures in other investments –686 –3,251
Repayments of loan receivables 1,216 0
Disposals of other investments 0 131
Dividends received from investments 411 680

Total –99 –6,429

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Share issue 0 2,242
Short-term loans 13 2,241
Repayments of short-term debt –534 –33
Long-term loans 63 129
Repayments of long-term debt 0 –69
Group contributions received and paid 357 –52

Total –101 4,458

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS –951 –2,996

Cash and cash equivalents 
at beginning of period 1,447 4,443
Change in cash and cash equivalents –951 –2,996
Cash and cash equivalents 
at end of period 496 1,447

CHANGE IN WORKING CAPITAL
Increase in short-term trade receivables 1,363 –2,318
Increase in short-term liabilities –349 1,077

Total 1,014 –1,241



GROUP STRUCTURE  AND THE
ACCOUNTING PRICIPLES USED IN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
Proha Plc, domiciled in Espoo, Finland, is the
parent company of the Proha Group.

The Group structure has been simplified in line
with the operative structure by transferring Proha's
partly owned Artemis companies to subsidiaries of
Artemis International Solutions Corporation.

Copies of the Proha Group's consolidated
financial statements are available at Proha Plc's head
officeat Maapallonkuja 1 A, FIN-02210 Espoo, Fin-
land. The Group companies at the end of the
financial year are listed in the Notes to the financial
statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the Finnish Accoun-
ting Act. The financial statements  of foreign sub-
sidiaries and Artemis sub group have been conver-
ted to comply with the accounting and
consolidation principles of the Group, when neces-
sary.

The condolidated financial statements are presen-
ted in thousand of Euros, except for key figures.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION 
The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the parent company, Proha
Plc, and  of the companies in which it owns,
directly or indirectly, over 50% of shares and voting
rights and of associated companies. The consolida-
ted financial statements include all subsidiaries
acquired during the financial year from the date of
acquisition.

Opus360 Corporation, now Artemis Interna-
tional Solution Corporation, has been consolidated
as of August 1, 2001 although the transaction was
implemented in a two-step process.This is justified
since in the special shareholder meeting of
Opus360 Corporation, which was required for the
closing of the transaction, Proha had both an ade-
quate number of voting rights and an obligation to
vote in favor of the transaction.

Where participating interests have not been con-
solidated, the Group's holding is less than 20% or
the Group has no significant management control.

ELIMINATION OF MUTUAL 
SHAREHOLDINGS
In the elimination of mutual shareholdings, the poo-
ling method is applied wherever the conditions  for
its use are met.

JST Investments Ltd and PMsoft Korea, acqui-
red in January 2001, have been consolidated using
the acquisition cost method and applying the

1999/1591 Statement of the Finnish Accounting
Board, under which the acquisition cost is based on
the amount of the share issue. The elimination of
the Group's other internal ownership complies
with the acquisition cost method.

Opus360 Corporation has been consolidated
using the acquisition cost method, according to
which the acquistion cost is based on the book
value of the shares of the companies given in
exchange.

The acquisition cost depreciation plan is 3 years,
except for the goodwill items created from Arte-
mis acquisitions, which are depreciated during 10
years.

The consolidation reserve originating from the
Opus transaction is amortized during 11 months
from the date of acquisition.

INTER-COMPANY TRANSACTIONS AND
MARGINS
Inter-company transactions, receivables and liabili-
ties, internal margins, and distribution of profit
have been eliminated.

MINORITY INTERESTS
The share of minority interests in the result and
capital and reserves are presented separately in the
profit and loss account and the balance sheet.

FOREIGN CURRENCY CONVERSION
The profit and loss accounts of foreign Group com-
panies, that were not prepared in Euros, have been
converted into Euros at the average exchange rates
for the accounting period, and their balance sheets
have been converted at the closing rate  on the
balance sheet date. All exchange rate differences
arising from conversion, together with the con-
version differences of capital and reserves, are
presented in capital and reserves.

ASSESSMENT PRINCIPLES 

Revenue Recognition 
Product and service sales are recorded upon deli-
very to the customer. Maintenance invoicing is
accrued and entered based on time elapsed.

Research and Development 
In 2001, the product development expenses were
EUR 11.6 million of which EUR 11.2 milllion was
expensed and EUR 0.4 million activated in the
balance sheet. The activated amount contains Pro-
countor development that consists of working
hours.Activated product development expenses are
depreciated on a straight-line basis between 3 and
10 years.
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Pensions 
The pension schemes of the parent company are
funded through payments to insurance companies.
Statutory pension expenses are entered as expen-
ses in the year they are incurred. The pension
expenses of subsiaries are presented in accordance
with local requirements and practices.

Uncovered pension liabilities are presented in
provisions.

COMPANY SHARES 
The Group has no Proha Plc shares.The 1,960,180
Proha Plc shares owned by Artemis Acquisition
Corporation at the beginning of the financial year
2001 have been cancelled during the financial year.

FIXED ASSETS 
The balance sheet value of fixed assets is stated at
acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation.
The acquisition cost of the fixed assets owned by
the Company is depreciated according to plan.The
difference between the acquisition cost and resi-
dual value is depreciated as an expense over its
expected useful life.

INVESTMENTS 
The direct expenses of acquisitions related to chan-
ges in the Group structure are entered as accrued
acquisition cost of subsidiary shares.

Stocks
Stocks are valued at their cost or net realizable
value, if lower.

Financial Assets
Short-term investments are valued at cost or mar-
ket price, if lower.

COMPARABILITY OF THE 2001 AND 2000
FINANCIAL YEARS
The accounting principles are comparable. The
financial year was a full 12-month period in 2001
and 2000.
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Fixed assets Depreciation percentage
and method

Computer software 3 years Straight-line depreciation
Group goodwill 3-10 years Straight-line depreciation
Other long-term expenses 3-10 years Straight-line depreciation
Machinery and equipment 4 years Straight-line depreciation



Group
2001 2000

12 months 12 months

1) NET SALES Total
Net sales by business area
Project Management 79,834 35,276
Internet Technologies 2,081 0
Financial Management 5,091 3,072
Other activities 2,264 0

Total 89,270 38,348

Intergroup
Project Management 3,324 1,979
Internet Technologies 1,320 0
Financial Management 411 220
Other activities 1,370 0

Total 6,425 2,199

External
Project Management 76,509 33,297
Internet Technologies 761 0
Financial Management 4,681 2,852
Other activities 894 0

Total 82,845 36,149

Group Parent Company
2001 2000 2001 2000

NET SALES BY REGION
Finland 13,144 11,825 1,145 1,528
EU countries 28,272 5,721 0 201
Other countries 41,430 18,604 14 0

Total 82,845 36,149 1,159 1,729

2) OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Income based on profit distribution contracts 0 1,465 0 1,465
Income from sale of shares 0 460 0 0
Income from sale of business operations 326 206 0 0
Sales profit from fixed assets 3 0 0 0
Subvention 123 0 0 0
Other income 95 96 102 8

Total 547 2,227 102 1,472

Notes to Profit and Loss account,
1000 eur 
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Group Parent Company
2001 2000 2001 2000

12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months

3) STAFF EXPENSES
Wages and salaries 39,308 14,293 387 413
Pension expenses 6,973 1,176 77 79
Other social security expenses 2,907 1,854 24 34

Total 49,188 17,324 488 526

Management salaries and fees
The CEO and managing directors 2,310 975 0 0

For the parent company, the salaries of the managing directors are not presented since they only apply to
one person (Finnish Accounting Ordinance 2:8, 4§).

Pension liabilities for the Board of Directors and the CEO
The managing directors of the Group companies and some other members of the Group management
are covered by an optional pension scheme on the basis of which they will be paid supplementary pen-
sion at the retirement age of 60-65 years.

Group Parent Company
2001 2000 2001 2000

NUMBER OF PERSONNEL
On the average 690 249 10 29

4) DEPRECIATION AND REDUCTION IN VALUE
Depreciation of tangible and intangible
assets 2,567 1,163 925 518
Depreciation in Consolidated Goodwill 1,965 711 0 0
Change in Consolidation Reserve –2,828 0 0 0

Total 1,704 1,874 925 518

5) FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES
Dividend income
From Group companies 0 0 0 579
From participating interests 0 0 0 102
Other dividend income 0 6 0 0

Total 0 6 0 680

Other interest and financial income
From Group companies 0 0 45 34
From others 272 231 21 106

Total 272 231 66 141

Interest and other financial expenses
To Group companies 0 0 24 35
To others 1,420 644 18 32

Total 1,420 644 42 66

Financial income and expenses total –1,147 –407 25 755
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Group Parent Company
2001 2000 2001 2000

6) EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS
Extraordinary income 0 0 0 0
From Group companies 0 0 0 0
Group contributions 0 0 711 810
Profit from dissolution of subsidiary 0 0 0 131

Total 0 0 711 941

Extraordinary expenses
From Group companies
Cancellation of group 
contributions (1995-1999) 0 0 0 862

Total 0 0 0 862

EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS TOTAL 0 0 711 79

7) INCOME TAXES
Income taxes on extraordinary items 0 0 0 273
Income taxes on operations 656 486 0 –31
From previous years on 
the basis of their results –35 0 –35 0
Change in deferred tax liabilities 2,999 0 0 0

Total 3,620 486 –35 242

The tax asset of EUR 2,999 thousand, that was in the balance sheet of Artemis USA at the time of the
acquisition, has been entered as expense. Since the possible future tax benefits can not be used complete-
ly, tax assets have been expensed in accordance with the prudence principle.
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Notes to Balance Sheet, 1000 eur
FIXED ASSETS AND OTHER LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS
GROUP
FIXED ASSETS

8) INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Computer software Consolidated Other long-term Anvance Total

and licenses goodwill expenses payments
Acquisition cost Jan. 1, 2001 714 16,966 1,728 143 19,551
Increase 499 1,714 611 0 2,825
Decrease 0 0 0 –25 –25

Acquisition cost Dec. 31, 2001 1,213 18,681 2,339 118 22,351

Accumulated depreciation and
reduction in value Jan. 1, 2001 –305 –854 –873 0 –2,031
Depreciation for the financial year –289 –1,965 –735 0 –2,990

Accumulated depreciation 
Dec. 31, 2001 –594 –2,819 –1,608 0 –5,021
Book value Dec. 31, 2001 619 15,862 731 118 17,330
Book value Dec. 31, 2000 409 16,112 855 143 17,520

9) TANGIBLE ASSETS
Machinery Other tangible

and equipment assets Total
Acquisition cost Jan. 1, 2001 3,860 99 3,958
Increase 2,015 11 2,026
Decrease –300 0 –300

Acquisition cost Dec. 31, 2001 5,575 110 5,685

Accumulated depreciation and
reduction in value Jan. 1, 2001 –1,066 –8 –1,074
Depreciation for the financial year –1,542 0 –1,542

Accumulated depreciation 
Dec. 31, 2001 –2,608 –8 –2,616
Book value Dec. 31, 2001 2,967 102 3,069
Book value Dec. 31, 2000 2,794 91 2,885

10) CONSOLIDATION RESERVE 2001

Value Jan. 1 0
Increase 6,372
Decrease 0
Value Dec. 31, 2001 6,372
Accumulated revenue recognition –2,828
Book value Dec. 31, 2001 3,544
Book value Dec. 31, 2000 0
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11) INVESTMENTS

GROUP
HOLDINGS

Shares
Participating Shares Other

interests Others Receivables Total

Acquisition cost Jan. 1, 2001 1,562 1,145 0 2,707
Increase 1,140 0 159 1,299
Decrease –1,082 –267 0 –1,349
Item transfers 766 –766 0 0

Acquistion cost Dec. 31, 2001 2,386 112 159 2,657

Accumulated depreciation and
reduction in value Jan. 1, 2001 0 0 0 0
Reduction in value (Jan. 1-Dec. 31, 2001) 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation and
reduction in value Dec. 31, 2001 0 0 0 0

Book value Dec. 31, 2001 2,386 112 159 2,657
Book value Dec. 31, 2000 1,562 1,145 0 2,707

12) FIXED ASSETS AND OTHER LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS
PARENT COMPANY
FIXED ASSETS
INTANGIBLE AND TANGIBLE ASSETS

Computer software Other long-term Advance Machinery Total
and licenses expences payments and equipment

Acquisition cost Jan. 1, 2001 334 688 128 855 2,006
Increase 199 605 118 136 1,058
Decrease 0 0 –128 0 –128

Acquisition cost Dec. 31, 2001 533 1,293 118 991 2,935

Accumulated depreciation and
reduction in value Jan. 1, 2001 –111 –167 0 –239 –518
Depreciation for the financial year –178 –508 0 –239 –925

Accumulated depreciation 
Dec. 31, 2001 –289 –675 0 –479 –1,443

Book value Dec. 31, 2001 244 618 118 512 1,493
Book value Dec. 31, 2000 223 521 128 616 1,488

13) INVESTMENTS

PARENT COMPANY Shares
HOLDINGS Shares Participating Shares Total

Group companies interests Others
Acquisition cost Jan. 1, 2001 11,911 1,058 0 12,968
Increase 935 206 0 1,141
Decrease 8 0 0 8
Item transfers 0 0 0 0

Acquisition cost Dec. 31, 2001 12,837 1,264 0 14,101

Book value Dec. 31, 2001 12,837 1,264 0 14,101
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GROUP COMPANIES
% owned % owned

by the Group by the Parent 
Company 

Project Management
Artemis International Solutions 
Corporation (Opus 360), Boulder, USA 80.00 80.00
Artemis Finland Oy, Espoo, Finland 80.00 0.00
Artemis International Corporation  
Ltd, Slough, UK 80.00 0.00
Artemis International Corporation 
Pte Ltd, Singapore 80.00 0.00
Artemis International Ltd, HongKong 80.00 0.00
Artemis International KK, Tokyo, Japan 80.00 0.00
Artemis International GmbH, Neuss, Germany 51.60 30.80
Artemis International SARL, Paris, France 80.00 0.00
Artemis International SPA, Milan, Italy 80.00 0.00
ABC Technologies, Munich, Germany 51.60 0.00
ABC Technologies, Paris, France 80.00 0.00
Enterprise Management Systems SRL,
Milan, Italy 80.00 0.00
JST Investments Pte Ltd., Singapore 80.00 0.00
Metier International Holdings Ltd, UK 80.00 0.00
PM Soft Asia Pte Ltd, Singapore 80.00 0.00
PM Soft International Ltd, Hong Kong 80.00 0.00
PMI Projekt Management, Münich, Germany 51.60 0.00
Project International SARL, Paris, France 80.00 0.00
Projekt International GmbH, Münich, Germany 51.60 0.00
Software Productivity Research SARL,
Paris, France 80.00 0.00
DA Futura International Oy, Espoo, Finland 51.00 51.00
Dovre International A/S, Norway 24.00 0.00
Proha Norge A/S, Stavanger, Norway 60.00 0.00
Safran Software Solutions, Stavanger, Norway 60.00 60.00
Solutions International SA, Paris, France 80.00 0.00

Internet Technologies
Ari Hovi Oy, Helsinki, Finland 100.00 100.00
Datamar Oy, Lahti, Finland 90.00 90.00
Intellisoft Oy, Espoo, Finland 96.02 80.10
Intellitest International Oy, Savonlinna, Finland 100.00 100.00
Vidac Oy, Helsinki, Finland 100.00 10.00

Financial Management
Accountor Oy, Turku, Finland 96.02 46.70
ProCountor International Oy, Espoo, Finland 63.30 63.30
Profitmaster Oy, Helsinki, Finland 100.00 100.00

Other
Brossco Systems Oy, Espoo, Finland 100.00 100.00
Brossco Systems Inc, Santa Rosa, USA 100.00 0.00
CM-Systems Oy, Helsinki, Finland 100.00 100.00
Cyberspace Oy, Espoo, Finland 80.00 80.00
Intelliweb Information Systems Oy, Finland 80.00 80.00
Planman Oy, Tampere, Finland 100.00 100.00



38

Associated Companies % owned % owned by Capital Result for the 
by Group Parent Company and reserves financial year

Changepoint France, SARL, Sevres, France 32.00 0.00
Changepoint Germany Gmbh, München, Germany 32.00 0.00
DA Management Solutions Oy, Espoo, Finland 44.20 21.00 74 –13
Kiinteistö Oy Kuukoti, Espoo, Finland 34.45 34.45 5,121 0
Tietokate Ta-Tilit Oy, Joensuu, Finland 20.00 20.00
Tietovaruste Oy, Espoo, Finland 49.33 49.33
Tilitoimisto A. Karppinen Oy, Oulu , Finland 30.00 30.00
Wel2Com Oy, Helsinki, Finland 35.00 35.00 – –

Associated companies have been consolidated into the Group accounts by using the equity method, except for Kiint. Oy
Kuukoti that does not engage in business and Wel2Com Oy and DA Management Solutions Oy, the consolidation of
which would not have had a significant impact.

Group Group
The amount of associated companies' goodwill 2001 2000
that has not been depreciated 803 95

Other investments % owned by % owned by
the Group the Parent Company

Global Teleworking S.L., Malaga, Spain 15.00 15.00
Metier International Holdings, B.V, Holland 15.20 0.00
Metier Plancon BV, Holland 9.41 0.00
Metier Plancon Benelux BV, Holland 9.41 0.00
Metier Scandinavia AS, Norway 7.92 0.00
Metier Scandinavia AS, Denmark 7.92 0.00
Metier Scandinavia AS, Sweden 3.88 0.00
Widene Oy, Helsinki, Finland 19.00 19.00

Group Parent Company
2001 2000 2001 2000

13.1) STOCKS
Work in progress 0 21 0 0
Finished products/goods 0 1 0 0
Other stocks 0 123 0 0

Total 0 145 0 0

DEBTORS
14) NON-CURRENT DEBTORS
Amounts owed by Group companies 0 0 110 0
Amounts owed by participating 
interest companies 0 298 0 0
Advance payments 0 38 0 0
Other debtors 0 25 0 0

Total 0 361 110 0
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Group Parent Company
2001 2000 2001 2000

12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months

15) CURRENT DEBTORS
Trade debtors from Group companies 0 0 563 738
Trade debtors from participating 
interests 5 45 2 44
Trade debtors 15,658 15,750 2 228
Loan receivables from Group companies 0 0 785 2,003
Loan receivables from participating 
interests 1,140 2,098 3 0
Loan receivables 894 21 0 1
Other debtors 950 2,208 163 74
Prepayments from Group companies 0 0 44 1,247
Prepayments from participating interests 0 133 0 1
Prepayments and accrued income 5,607 4,879 34 986

Total 24,254 25,135 1,597 5,322

Group Parent Company
2001 2000 2001 2000

Prepayments and accrued income
Uninvoiced sales 1,538 1,023 0 0
Allocated expenses 2,582 1,512 7 8
Tax claim 21 607 0 9
Other 1,387 870 27 897
Deferred tax asset 80 867 0 73

5,607 4,879 34 986

16) SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

Replacement price 95 277
Book value 93 270

Difference 2 7



Group Parent Company
2001 2000 2001 2000

12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months

17) CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Share capital at beginning of period 13,702 4,813 13,702 4,813
New subscriptions 82 8,889 82 8,889
Reduction of share capital –510 0 –510 0

Share capital Dec. 31 13,274 13,702 13,274 13,702

Share premium account
Share premium account at 
beginning of period 3,107 607 2,577 580
Transfer to retained 
earnings account 0 –27 0 0
New subscriptions 159 1,997 159 1,997
Pooling 0 –1,382 0 0
Increase in share premium account 550 1,912 510 0

Share premium account Dec. 31 3,816 3,107 3,246 2,577

Other items
Restricted capital, translation 
differences –1,794 1 0 0

Group Parent Company
2001 2000 2001 2000

Retained earnings
Retained earnings Jan. 1 2,531 560 990 533
Bonus issue 0 0 0 0
From share premium account 0 27 0 0
Pooling 0 1,018 0 0
Other change –9 0 0 0
From depreciation differences 0 2 0 0
Dividend distribution 0 0 0 0

Retained earnings Dec. 31 2,522 1,606 990 533

Other items
Unrestricted capital,
translation differences 4,682 1,300 0 0

Result for the financial year –10,085 925 –1,888 457
Capital loans 187 187 0 0

CAPITAL AND RESERVES TOTAL 12,602 20,828 15,622 17,269

CALCULATION OF DISTRIBUTABLE EARNINGS
Retained earnings 2,522 2,907 990 533
Profit/loss for the financial year –10,085 925 –1,888 457
./. Transfers of accumulated depreciation
difference to capital and reserves –1 –2 0 0

Distributable earnings –7,564 3,830 –898 990

40
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BREAKDOWN OF PARENT COMPANY SHARE CAPITAL BY CLASS OF SHARES AND
SHARE REGULATIONS
One class of shares 1 vote/share Number of shares 1000 EUR

Number of shares Dec. 31, 2000 52,700,125 13,702
Number of shares Dec. 31, 2001 51,054,350 13,274

Book parity Dec.31, 2000 EUR 0.26
Book parity Dec. 31, 2001 EUR 0.26

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE ON DEC. 28, 2001
Private companies 6.22 %
Insurance and financial institutions 5.05 %
Public corporations 4.33 %
Non-profit organizations 0.98 %
Households 55.84 %
Foreign shareholders (also nominee registered) 27.58 %

Total 100.00 %

BREAKDOWN OF SHARE OWNERSHIP BY NUMBER OF SHARES 
OWNED ON DEC. 28, 2001
Shares Number of Per cent of Number of Per cent of

shareholders shareholders shares  shares

1-100 151 3.98 12,843 0.03
101-300 327 8.62 76,101 0.15
301-500 636 16.77 307,094 0.60
501-700 102 2.69 65,260 0.13
701-1,000 671 17.69 649,311 1.27
1001-5,000 1,371 36.15 3,643,222 7.14
5001-100,000 472 12.44 7,235,608 14.17
100,001- 63 1.66 39,064,911 76.52

Total 3,793 100,00 51,054,350 100,00

LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS ON DEC. 28, 2001
Shareholder Number of Per cent of

shares shares

Alec E. Gores Trust 6,526,155 12.78
Pekka Pere 4,241,105 8.31
Pekka Mäkelä 2,923,775 5.73
Lars Nyqvist 2,915,355 5.71
Kuntien Eläkevakuutus 1,750,000 3.43
Risto Saikko 1,129,190 2.21
Juha Tommila 1,078,000 2.11
Thomfinanz AG 1,043,500 2.04
Mandatum Suomi, kasvuosake 803,800 1.57
Patrick Ternier 735,099 1.44



42

SHARES AND OPTIONS HELD BY THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors holds a total of 11,094,510 shares which is 22% of the share capital 
(Dec. 28, 2001).
Member Number Per cent of Number of 

of shares shares options1)

Olof Ödman                                     1,250 0.002 71,525
James Cannavino
Klaus Cawén 26,250 0.05 34,025
Alec Gores 6,526,155 12.78
Ari Horowitz
Pekka Pere 4,241,105 8.31 395,525
Peter Schwartz
Steven C.Yager 299,650 0.59 105,000

1) The number of options depends on the number of shares that can be subscribed for on the basis of
each person's options.

Group Group
2001 2000

18) CAPITAL LOANS 12 months 12 months

Loan capital 187 187

Loan terms
Datamar Oy, a Group company, has a capital loan of EUR 186,710.85. The interest of the loan is 5.5%
pa and the loan period is 10 years. The installments of the loan can only be paid from distributable ear-
nings. The loan is a capital loan in accordance with the Companies Act section 5. The unexpired accrued
interest of the loan has been entered under interest expenses.

Group Parent Company
2001 2000 2001 2000

19) PROVISIONS 12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months

Provisions for pensions 446 468 0 0
Provisions for taxation 378 0 0 0

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES AND ASSETS
Deferred tax assets 80 0 0 0
Deferred tax liabilities 7 0 0 0

SPECIFICATION OF LIABILITIES
20) NON-CURRENT CREDITORS
Non-current creditors Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

Loans from financial institutions 1,505 4,330 316 253
Pension loans 115 124 0 0
Deferred tax liabilities 7 11 0 0
Other non-current creditors 
to Group companies 0 0 0 0
Other non-current creditors 274 708 0 0

Total 1,901 5,173 316 253

Liabilities maturing in excess of 5 years

Loans from financial institutions 56 83 0 0
Pension loans 86 0 0 0
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21) CURRENT CREDITORS
Group Parent Company

2001 2000 2001 2000
12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months

Loans from financial institutions 2,502 3,354 13 534
Pension loans 682 9 0 0
Advances received 4,501 8,733 0 0
Trade creditors to Group companies 0 0 139 279
Trade creditors to participating interests 0 7 0 5
Trade creditors 5,989 5,712 137 411
Other creditors to Group companies 0 0 1,424 1,708
Other creditors to participating interests 1 303 1 300
Other creditors 5,069 3,732 16 48
Accruals and deferred income 
to Group companies 0 0 5 59
Accruals and deferred income 
to participating interests 0 8 0 0
Other accruals and deferred income 15,617 7,021 124 360

Total 34,362 28,880 1,859 3,703

Accruals and deferred income
Sales 5,863 0 0 0
Tax liabilities 0 1,057 0 109
Staff expenses 3,935 633 42 164
Other expense provisions 5,819 5,331 82 87

Total 15,617 7,021 124 360

STOCK OPTIONS GIVEN BY THE COMPANY
Stock options to personnel and key employees in 2001 and 2000.

Subscription period Subsciption Number Number Book value of
price EUR of options of shares shares

EUR 1000
Year 1999
A Jan. 2, 2001 - Jan. 2, 2003 1.6 151,525 151,525 39.40
B Jan. 2, 2002 - Jan. 2, 2003 1.6 151,525 151,525 39.40

Total 303,050 303,050 78.79

Year 2000
A Dec. 1, 2001 - Dec. 1, 2004 2.94 325,000 325,000 84.50
B Dec. 1, 2002 - Dec. 1, 2004 2.94 325,000 325,000 84.50
C Dec. 1, 2003 - Dec. 1, 2004 2.94 325,000 325,000 84.50

Total 975,000 975,000 253.50

Year 2001
A Feb. 4, 2002 - Feb. 4, 2006 1.35 4,860,250 486,025 126.37
B Feb. 4, 2003 - Feb. 4, 2006 1.35 4,860,250 486,025 126.37
C Feb. 4, 2004 - Feb. 4, 2006 1.35 4,860,250 486,025 126.37
D Feb. 4, 2005 - Feb. 4, 2006 1.35 4,860,250 486,025 126.37

Total 19,441,000 1,944,100 505.47

Year 2002
A Apr. 1, 2003 - Apr. 1, 2007 0.43 364,500 364,500 94.77
B Apr. 1, 2004 - Apr. 1, 2007 0.43 364,500 364,500 94.77
C Apr. 1, 2005 - Apr. 1, 2007 0.43 364,500 364,500 94.77
D Apr. 1, 2006 - Apr. 1, 2007 0.43 364,500 364,500 94.77

Total 1,458,000 1,458,000 379.08

Grand total 22,177,050 4,680,150 1,216.84



CALCULATION OF KEY RATIOS
Return on equity Profit before extraordinary items – taxes x 100

ROE*) Capital and reserves + minority interest 

Return on investment Profit before extraordinary items + interest and other financial expenses
ROI*) Balance sheet total – liabilities without interest

Equity ratio Capital and reserves + minority interest x 100
Balance sheet total – prepayments received

Gearing Liabilities at interest – rcash and cash equivalents x 100
Capital and reserves + minority interest 

Earnings per share Profit before extraordinary items – taxes -/+minority interest
EPS Adjusted average number of shares 

Equity per share Capital and reserves
Adjusted number of shares at balance sheet date

Dividend per earnings, % Adjusted dividend/share
Earnings/share

Dividend yield Adjusted dividend/share x 100
Adjusted share price at balance sheet date

Price per earnings Adjusted share price, Dec.31
P/E Earnings/share

*) The divisor for the key ratio is calculated as an average of the values on the year 2001 balance sheet and
year 2000 balance sheet.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS' AUTHORIZATIONS
On December 17, 2001 the Board of Directors was authorized by the Extraordinary General Meeting to
decide on increasing the Company's share capital through one or more new subscriptions totaling a maxi-
mum of 10,000,000 new shares with a book parity of EUR 0.26. On the basis of this authorization, the
Company's share capital can be increased by a maximium of EUR 2,600,000. After the directed issues to
the shareholders of the Norwegian Safran Software Solutions AS and the German Artemis International
GmbH in January 2002 (a total of 812,920 new shares), the number of unused shares is 9,187,080 (EUR
2,388,640.80). The authorization is valid until December 16, 2002.

Securities given and contingent liabilities
Group Parent Company

Mortgages: 2001 2000 2001 2000
Loans from financial institutions 
and check account limit used 270 133 0 0
Corporate mortgages as security of the loans 589 168 0 0

Other securities:
Loans from financial institutions 775 0 0 0
Trade debtors as security. Debts secured with other assets.

Debts secured with shares
Loans from financial institutions 500 500
Debt is secured with the shares of Kiinteistö Oy Kuukoti.

Group Parent Company
2001 2000 2001 2000

Leasing liabilities, EUR 1000
In the following financial year 2,582 1,743 46 27
Thereafter 2,283 2,667 29 3

Total 4,865 4,410 74 30
Rental liabilities 517 4,322 0 0
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KEY RATIOS AND FINANCIAL INDICATORS (EUR 1000) 

Jan.1, 2001 Jan.1, 2000 Mar.1, 1999 Mar.1, 1998 Mar.1, 1997
-Dec.31, 2001 -Dec.31, 2000 -Dec.31, 1999 -Feb.28, 1999 -Feb.28, 1998

12 months 12 months 10 months 12 months 12 months

Net sales 82,845 36,149 5,186 3,154 1,559
Change, % 129.2% 597.0% 64.4% 102.3% 24.0%

Operating profit –6,098 1,943 590 679 105
% of net sales –7.4% 5.4% 11.4% 21.5% 6.8%

Profit before extraordinary items –7,246 1,537 426 655 78
% of net sales –8.8% 4.3% 8.2% 20.8% 5.0%

Profit before taxes –7,246 1,537 426 655 131
% of net sales –8.8% 4.3% 8.2% 20.8% 8.4%

Profit for the financial year –10,085 925 314 322 55
% of net sales –12.2% 2.6% 6.1% 10.2% 3.5%

Return on equity (ROE), % –63.0% 7.8% 8.5% 99.3% 8.5%
Return on investment (ROI), % –25.4% 7.4% 6.9% 37.3% 9.2%
Equity ratio, % 34.6% 28.7% 38.8% 25.4% 22.3%
Gearing, % –11.9% –17.6% –153.9% –55.4% 27.8%

Balance sheet total 54,357 55,675 8,688 1,827 1,156
Gross investments in fixed assets 3,300 2,485 470 16 7

% of net sales 4.0% 6.9% 9.1% 0.5% 0.4%

R & D expenditure 11,633 3,565 – – –
% of net sales 14.0% 9.9% – – –

Average personnel during the financial year 690 249 61 23 18

KEY RATIOS FOR SHARES (share issue adjusted)
Earnings per share (EPS) –0.198 0.029 0.026 0.033 –0.001
EPS, diluted by stock options –0.198 0.029 – – –
Equity per share 0.243 0.407 0.323 0.047 0.021
Dividend per share 0 0 0 0.006 0.006
Dividend per earnings, % 0 0 0 8.5% 106.9%

Dividend yield, %
P/E ratio –1.97 102.22 85.90 – –
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Signatures

Espoo, March 27, 2002

Olof Ödman Pekka Pere
Chairman of the Board of Directors President & CEO,

Member of the Board of Director

Steven C.Yager Klaus Cawén
Member of the Board of Directors Member of the Board of Directors

Alec E. Gores Ari B. Horowitz
Member of the Board of Directors Member of the Board of Directors

Peter Schwartz James A. Cannavino
Member of the Board of Directors Member of the Board of Directors

AUDITOR'S STATEMENT
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Finnish Accounting Act and other
rules and regulations governing the preparation of financial statements. Based on an audit, an opinion is
expressed on these financial statements and on corporate governance on this date.

Espoo, March 27, 2002

KPMG WIDERI OY AB

Reino Tikkanen,
Authorized Public Accountant



47

Auditor’s Report
to the shareholders of Proha Plc

We have audited the accounting records and the financial statements, as well as the administration by the
Board of Directors and the Managing Director of Proha Plc for the year ended 31 December 2001.The
financial statements prepared by the Board of Directors and the Managing Director include the report
of the Board of Directors, consolidated and parent company income statements, balance sheets, cash flow
statements and notes to the financial statements. Based on our audit we express an opinion on these
financial statements and the company’s administration.

We have conducted our audit in accordance with Finnish Generally Accepted Auditing Standards.Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit in order to obtain reasonable assurance about whet-
her the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accoun-
ting principles used and significant estimates made by the management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation.The purpose of our audit of the administration has been to examine that
the Board of Directors and the Managing Director have complied with the rules of the Finnish Compa-
nies Act.

In our opinion, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Finnish Accoun-
ting Act and other rules and regulations governing the preparation of financial statements in Finland.The
financial statements give a true and fair view, as defined in the Finnish Accounting Act, of both the con-
solidated and parent company result of operations, as well as the financial position. The financial state-
ments can be adopted and the members of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director of the
parent company can be discharged from liability for the financial year audited by us. The proposal made
by the Board of Directors on how to deal with the result is in compliance with the Finnish Companies
Act.

Espoo, March 27, 2002

KPMG WIDERI OY AB

Reino Tikkanen
Authorized Public Accountant



Contact information
FINLAND

Proha Plc
info@proha.fi
www.proha.com
Maapallonkuja 1 A
FIN-02210 Espoo
Tel. +358-(0)20 4362 000
Fax +358-(0)20 4362 500

Artemis Finland Oy
info@artemis.fi
www.artemis.fi
Espoo
Maapallonkuja 1 A
FIN-02210 Espoo
Tel. +358-(0)20 4362 000
Fax +358-(0)20 4362 500

Tampere
Takojankatu 15 B
FIN-33540 Tampere
Tel. +358-(0)20 4362 700
Fax +358-(0)20 4362 777

Oulu
Kaapelitie 4
FIN-90630 Oulu
Tel. +358-(0)20 4362 000
Fax +358-(0)20 4362 500

Savonlinna
Kaartilantie 10
FIN-57101 Savonlinna
Tel. 015-57 555
Fax 015-57 55 715

Intellisoft Oy
info@intellisoft.fi
www.intellisoft.fi
Lintuvaarantie 23
FIN-02600 Espoo
Tel. +358-(0)20 4362 400
Fax +358-(0)20 4362 444

Accountor Oy
info@accountor.fi
www.accountor.fi
Helsinki
Pitkänsillanranta 3 B
FIN-00530 Helsinki
Tel. +358-(0)20 4363 600
Fax +358-(0)20 4363 699

Lönnrotinkatu 3 A 3
FIN-00120 Helsinki
Tel. +358-(0)20 4362 800
Fax +358-(0)20 4362 850

Lahti
Hämeenkatu 20 B
FIN-15110 Lahti
Tel. +358-(0)20 4362 216
Fax +358-(0)20 4362 504

Pori
Kauppakeskus Isokarhu
Yrjönkatu 14
FIN-28100 Pori
Tel. +358-(0)20 4363 500
Fax +358-(0)20 4363 599

Tampere
Hämeenkatu 26 A
FIN-33200 Tampere
Tel. +358-(0)20 4363 200
Fax +358-(0)20 4363 299

Turku
Aurakatu 12 b
FIN-20100 Turku
Tel. +358-(0)20 4363 400
Fax +358-(0)20 4363 499

Espoo
Lintuvaarantie 23
FIN-02600 Espoo
Tel. +358-(0)20 4362 400
Fax +358-(0)20 4362 444

ProCountor 
International Oy
info@procountor.com
www.procountor.com
Maapallonkuja 1 A
FIN-02210 Espoo
Tel. +358-(0)20 4362 000
Fax +358-(0)20 4362 500

Datamar Oy
info@datamar.fi
www.datamar.fi
Hämeenkatu 20 B
FIN-15110 Lahti
Tel. +358-(0)20 4362 004
Fax +358-(0)20 4362 504
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NORWAY
Safran Software
Solutions AS

Rogaland Science Park
P.O box 8034
N-4003 Stavanger, Norway
Puh. +47 5187 4560
Fax +47 5187 4561

Langkaia 1 P.O.Box 
521 Sentrum 
N-0105 Oslo, Norway 
Tel. +47 22 47 85 90 
Fax +47 22 47 85 91

FRANCE
Artemis International
SARL

5 Place du Marivel

92316 Sèvres Cedex, France
Tel. +33 1 4690 1515
Fax +33 1 4507 2364

GERMANY
Artemis International
GmbH

Ridlerstr. 31 a

80339 Munich, Germany
Tel. +49 89 960 7090
Fax +49 89 960 70911

Hammfelddamm 6
41460 Neuss, Germany
Tel. +49 2131 922 40
Fax +49 2131 922 475

ITALY
Artemis International SPA

viale Monza, 259
20126 Milan, Italy
Tel. +39 02 2700 4779
Fax +39 02 2700 4852

via Cristoforo Colombo, 440
00145 Rome, Italy
Tel. +39 06 541 6216
Fax +39 06 541 6243

UNITED KINGDOM
Artemis International
Corporation Ltd

268 Bath Road
Slough, Berkshire SL1 4DX 
United Kingdom
Tel. +44 1753 727 100
Fax +44 1753 727 099

USA
Artemis International
Solutions Corporation

Colorado
6260 Lookout Road
Boulder, CO 80301, USA
Tel. +1 303 531 3159
Fax +1 303 305 4125

Florida
100 Second Ave. South,
Ste. 200 St. Petersburg,
FL 3370, USA
Tel. +1 727 823 1401
Fax +1 727 823 3815

Illinois
5 Revere Drive, Suite 200
Northbrook, IL 60062, USA
Tel. +1 847 498 7380
Fax +1 847 498 7382

Kalifornia
4041 MacArthur Boulevard,
Suite 260
Newport Beach,
CA 92660, USA
Tel. +1 949 660 7100
Fax +1 949 660 7020

Massachusetts
6 Lincoln Knoll Lane
Burlington, MA 01803, USA
Tel. +1 781 221 7363
Fax +1 781 270 6882

Michigan
2655 Oakley Park Dr., Ste. 105
Walled Lake, MI 48390, USA
Tel. +1 248 926 4466
Fax +1 248 926 4471

New York
599 Broadway
11th Floor
New York, NY 10012, USA
Tel. +1 212 651 1730
Fax +1 702 974 9929

Pennsylvania
1954 Fairview Avenue
Mt. Penn, PA 19606, USA
Tel. +1 610 375 0954
Fax +1 610 375 4818

Texas
2331 Lamonte
Houston, TX 77018, USA
Tel. +1 713 290 8949
Fax +1 713 290 0302

1202 Merlins Oaks Drive
Spring, TX 77379, USA
Puh  +1 281 225 5250
Fax +1 281 225 2526

JAPAN
Artemis International K.K.

6th Floor American 
International Building
20-5 Ichibancho Chiyoda-Ku
Tokyo 102-0082, Japan
Tel. +81 33 262 8161
Fax +81 33 262 8550

Advance Esaka Building 501
8-10 Toyotsu-Cho, Suita-City
Osaka Prefecture 564-0051
Tel. +81 6 6821 0071
Fax +81 6 6821 0074

SINGAPORE
Artemis International
Corporation Pte Ltd

89 Science Park Drive
# 04-06/07 The Rutherford
Singapore Science Park
Singapore 118261
Tel. +65 778 1678
Fax +65 778 6884

SOUTH KOREA
PMsoft Korea Ltd

5 th Floor, Yongma Building
668-2,Yoksam-dong, Kangnam-ku
Seoul, 135-080, South Korea
Tel. +822 569 0730
Fax +822 569 0733



Proha Plc
Maapallonkuja 1 A
FIN-02210 Espoo
Finland
Tel +358(0)20 4362 000
Fax +358(0)20 4362 500
info@proha.com
www.proha.com
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